Behavioral and fMRI Studies on Visuotactile Roughness Perception

2017, September

Mohd Usairy Syafiq bin Samain

Graduate School of Natural Science and Technology (Doctor's Course) OKAYAMA UNIVERSITY

Behavioral and fMRI Studies on Visuotactile Roughness Perception

視触覚による粗さ知覚に関する 行動学および fMRI 研究

Mohd Usairy Syafiq bin Samain モハマド ウサイリー シャフィック ビン サマイン

Graduate School of Natural Science and Technology (Doctor's Course) OKAYAMA UNIVERSITY

Contents

Chapter 1 Introduction1
Chapter 2 Human Characteristics of Tactile-Visual Cross-modal on Roughness
Perception
Abstract5
2.1 Introduction6
2.2 Experimental stimuli7
2.2.1 Tactile stimuli
2.2.2 Visual stimuli
2.2.3 Visual indication stimuli10
2.3 Experimental setup and device11
2.3.1 Setup11
2.3.2 Tactile presentation device
2.4 Materials and method14
2.4.1 Subjects
2.4.2 Apparatus and stimuli
2.4.3 Procedures
2.4.4 Data processing and analysis
2.5 Results
2.5.1 Reaction time
2.5.2 Proportion of "rougher" response
2.6 Discussion
2.6.1 Tactile dominant roughness perception of fine surface
2.6.2 Influence of interference stimulus in each other modality during cross modalities 31

2.6.3 "Smooth" and "rough" in fine textures	
2.7 Conclusion	
Chapter 3 Neural mechanisms of Roughness Perception by Tactile Visual C	Cross-modal
dot pattern	
Abstract	
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Experimental stimuli	
3.2.1 Tactile stimuli	
3.2.2 Visual stimuli	
3.2.3 Visual indication stimuli	
3.3 Experimental setup	40
3.3.1 Pre experiment	41
3.3.2 Functional MRI experiment	41
3.4 Materials and method	
3.4.1 Subjects	
3.4.1 Apparatus and stimuli	
3.4.2 Procedures	
3.4.3 Data processing and analysis	47
3.5 Results	
3.5.1 Behavioral results	
3.5.2 Neural activation in specific stimuli cognition	51
3.5.3 Neural activation during visual and tactile input	61
3.5.3 Common neural activation during target stimulus cognition	62
3.6 Discussion	63
3.6.1 Effects of input by each modality	63
3.6.2 Cross modal integration process	64

3.7 Conclusion
Chapter 4 Effects of Temporal Frequency toward Roughness Perception by Visual Stimuli
Abstract
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Effects of temporal frequency towards roughness perception by visual drifted grating
stimuli
4.2.1 Subjects
4.2.2 Stimuli
4.2.3 Procedures
4.3 Effects of temporal frequency towards roughness perception by visual flicked scramble
stimuli72
4.3.1 Subjects
4.3.2 Scramble stimuli
4.3.3 Procedures
4.4 Results
4.4.1 Grating
4.4.2 Scramble stimuli
4.5 Discussion
4.5.1 Temporal roughness factor in grating and scramble
4.5.2 Irregularity of spatial factor in temporal roughness
4.6 Conclusion
Chapter 5 Summary
Publications
References
Acknowledgements

Chapter 1 Introduction

On the other hand, tactile recognition experiments have been carried out worldwide for years. When examining the state of human touch, due to a variety of complex tactile information input by touch, we determine by analyzing the shape and condition of the surface. When touching something in the shape of a character, we imagine and visualize the shape based on tactile information while matching its similar shape and character to the brain require an advanced network of brain.

Haptic and visual information contribute to our texture perception, lead human to recognize surface characteristics of objects by single glance or particular touch. In addition, we generally recognize object's texture by using multisensory inputs, combining both modalities to produce final judgement into understanding the texture. During the processes, how do those different modalities affects each other? Are they integrated or disconnect inside our brain?

Perception of textures can be divided into two; fine (spatial features smaller than 200 μ m) and coarse textures. Texture depends on spatial and temporal cues and is mediated by different tactile receptors in the skin. According to the duplex theory, the perception of a surface with element size lower than 100 μ m is impaired in the absence of movement. In tactile texture perception, roughness is one of the most important characteristics of a textured surface and it is evident that, at least for fine surfaces, motion plays an important role in extracting roughness information from textured surfaces. Recent studies on the haptic perception of a coarse surface (200 μ m) and that encoded spatial properties are likely a key factor. Information about the roughness of a surface can be encoded not only through active exploration of that surface but also by the surface rubbing passively against one's skin.

Plenty of psychological studies investigating tactile texture perception have been conducted using artificial stimuli such as dot surfaces, grating patterns or abrasive papers. In addition, a lot of research has been devoted to tactile rough-ness, in particular with respect to the role of vibration cues and to the neural mechanisms. Visual roughness is likely a factor that contributes to the perception of visual gloss. To date, many studies investigated texture perception in separate visual and haptic paradigms and the effect of simultaneous visual and haptic exploration of textures has always been overlook. Overlap of visual and haptic texture may represent in some brain areas, but whether visual and haptic information interacts in these cortical regions is still subtle. Behavioral studies also indicate the existence of such cross modal interaction and matching effects in visuo-haptic tasks. It was shown that people consistently and absolutely match specific tactile vibration rates (simulating manual exploration of a textured surface) to visual spatial frequencies, indicating some kind of cross modal association effect in visual and haptic texture perception.

To differentiate a surface texture, human apply both visual and haptic information for the perception. We are focusing in roughness, one of significant domain in the perception of textures. In addition, we generally recognize object's texture by using multisensory inputs, combining both modalities to produce final judgement into understanding the texture. During the processes, how do those different modalities affects each other? Are they integrated or disconnect inside our brain? Cognition of surface roughness at the same time in the two senses (tactile and visual) is still undeclared, and how both effects on each other could be intriguing. Moreover, human sensations during roughness perception always involve in interaction, but a lot of brain's response during the interaction is still unknown. Additionally, the perception of roughness has been studied primarily in the haptic domain. Plenty of psychological studies investigating tactile texture perception have been conducted using artificial stimuli such as dot surfaces, grating patterns or abrasive papers. In addition, a lot of research has been devoted to tactile roughness, in particular with respect to the role of vibration cues and to the neural mechanisms. Visual roughness is likely a factor that contributes to the perception of visual gloss, mainly focusing on spatial factors This raises the question on how the temporal factors affect the roughness perception. Does the spatial factors are more significance than temporal? How do we code the temporal code in visual roughness?

This thesis is divided into five chapters. In the first chapter, literature review on texture perception is explained. The main objective of the first study in the second chapter was to explore how the two modalities influence each other during roughness perception of fine surface. We designed two unimodal tasks and four bimodal tasks

within both modalities using six different fine surfaces and six different grayscale photos. In unimodal visual task (V-V), subjects were asked to judge rougher visual stimuli between two stimuli that were presented in sequential order. In bimodal visual task, (V-Vt), subjects needed to do the same visual roughness judgement while perceiving an interference tactile stimulus at the second order of the presented stimuli. We expected to measure the influence of each modality by considering how subjects were interrupted by the emergence of the tactile interference stimulus. Furthermore, bimodal visual task are divided into two tasks, which applied rough tactile interference stimulus (V-Vt-rough) and smooth one (V-Vt-smooth). Unimodal and bimodal tactile task (T-T, T-Tv-rough, and T-Tv-smooth) were the opposite, which subjects need to do tactile rough-ness judgement. We propose that the roughness of the interference stimulus from different modality may affects subjects judgment and different between the two types. We found that tactile sensory was dominant in the perception of roughness by fine surface. During cross modalities, visual information has almost no effects toward tactile sensory, but in the other hand tactile information had significance effects onto visual sensory. Furthermore, we found that stimuli with smaller particles bring more interference into subject's perception compared to bigger particles in fine surface. We suggest that particles sizes are as significant as the modalities in visual, tactile, or multisensory integration of both, in roughness perception of fine surface.

In the third chapter, we measured brain activity during pattern perception using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI). Human sensations always involve in interaction, but a lot of brain's response during the interaction is still unknown. This study was designed to discover the unresolved part of the brain during performing visual and tactile interaction roughness recognition experiments. We designed four types of tasks: visual task (VV), tactile task (TT), visual - tactile task (VT), tactile visual task (TV). The common area of each of the brain activation during each task was analyzed; and the results showed that activations located in the frontal and parietal, suggesting these regions were actively involved in the cross-modal processing. Specific activation for the information from the tactile and visual modality was seen in the frontal and parietal lobe, respectively, suggesting the particular activation in each at this region.

In the fourth chapter, we designed a visual base stimulation to investigate the temporal factors of roughness perception. Visual stimulation with regularity and irregularity of spatial spacing were used in this study. In the present study, we used computer-assembled gratings and scrambles images to define time characteristics of visual roughness. The parameters of the grating including pixels per cycle, spatial frequency, and visible size were calculated and one single static grating image was generated. The actual sine grating and drift speed (in cycles per second) were then computed and the amount of pixels to be shifted is specified to perform a perception of movement. We then investigated the effects of changes in those gratings and scrambles parameters to subjects' roughness perception. In the first experiment, we investigated the effects of temporal frequency towards roughness perception by visual drifted grating stimuli. We could understand that gratings do have several limitations for roughness perception to human visual. In the second experiment, we changed our stimulation to scramble stimulation which originated from the grating stimuli. In order to examine the results of the second experiment, we carried out a magnitude estimation experiment on each of the difference temporal frequency of scramble stimuli. The results showed a more converged results during the perception of irregular spacing in scramble stimuli, suggesting the significance of spatial coding. However, we also found the evidence of how visual temporal factors influence the perception of roughness.

Chapter 2 Human Characteristics of Tactile-Visual Cross-modal on Roughness Perception

Abstract

Cognition of surface roughness at the same time by the two senses (tactile and visual) is still undeclared, and how both effects on each other could be intriguing. The main factor for roughness estimation of fine surface (spatial features below 200µm) is also unknown until present. In order to see the difference between cognition of both condition, we conducted two unimodal and two bimodal tasks involving both modalities using fine sandpapers. Tactile stimuli consisted of six types of different sandpapers that varied in their roughness, while visual stimuli are images of the correspondence tactile stimuli. In unimodal task, subjects need to compare which stimulus perceived were rougher, visually and tactually, while multiple sensory of visual and tactile were mixed in bimodal task. We also varied the type of roughness in bimodal task into two categories to discover whether there is any acceleration or suppression by different stimuli. We found that tactile sensory was dominant in the perception of roughness by fine surface. During cross modalities, visual information has almost no effects toward tactile sensory, but in the other hand tactile information had significance effects onto visual sensory. Furthermore, we found that stimuli with smaller particles bring more interference into subject's perception compared to bigger particles in fine surface. We suggest that particles sizes are as significant as the modalities in visual, tactile, or multisensory integration of both, in roughness perception of fine surface.

2.1 Introduction

Haptic and visual information contribute to our texture perception, lead human to recognize surface characteristics of objects by single glance or particular touch. In addition, we generally recognize object's texture by using multisensory inputs, combining both modalities to produce final judgement into understanding the texture. During the processes, how do those different modalities affects each other? Are they integrated or disconnect inside our brain?

Perception of textures can be divided into two; fine (spatial features smaller than 200 μ m) and coarse textures [1][2]. Texture depends on spatial and temporal cues and are mediated by different tactile receptors in the skin [3][4][5][6]. According to the duplex theory, the perception of a surface with element size lower than 100 μ m is impaired in the absence of movement. In tactile texture perception, roughness is one of the most important characteristics of a textured surface and it is evident that, at least for fine surfaces, motion plays an important role in extracting roughness have indicated that even temporal coding is involved in the haptic perception of a coarse surface (200 μ m) and that encoded spatial properties are likely a key factor [7]. Information about the roughness of a surface rubbing passively against one's skin.

Plenty of psychological studies investigating tactile texture perception have been conducted using artificial stimuli such as dot surfaces, grating patterns or abrasive papers. In addition, a lot of research has been devoted to tactile rough-ness, in particular with respect to the role of vibration cues and to the neural mechanisms. Visual roughness is likely a factor that contributes to the perception of visual gloss [8][9]. To date, many studies investigated texture perception in separate visual and haptic paradigms and the effect of simultaneous visual and haptic exploration of textures has always been overlook. Overlap of visual and haptic texture may represents in some brain areas, but whether visual and haptic information interacts in these cortical regions is still subtle. Behavioural studies also indicate the existence of such cross modal interaction and matching effects in visuo-haptic tasks. It was shown that people consistently and absolutely match specific tactile vibration rates (simulating manual exploration of a textured surface) to visual spatial frequencies [10], indicating some kind of cross modal association effect in visual and haptic texture perception.

The main objective of the present chapter was to explore how the two modalities influence each other during rough-ness perception of fine surface. We designed two unimodal tasks and four bimodal tasks within both modalities using six different fine surfaces and six different grayscale photos. In unimodal visual task (V-V), subjects were asked to judge rougher visual stimuli between two stimuli that were presented in sequential order. In bimodal visual task, (V-Vt), subjects needed to do the same visual roughness judgement while perceiving an interference tactile stimulus at the second order of the presented stimuli. We expected to measure the influence of each modality by considering how subjects were interrupted by the emergence of the tactile interference stimulus. Furthermore, bimodal visual task is divided into two tasks, which applied rough tactile interference stimulus (V-Vt-rough) and smooth one (V-Vt-smooth). Unimodal and bimodal tactile task (T-T, T-Tv-rough, T-Tv-smooth) were the opposite, which subjects need to do tactile roughness judgement. We propose that the roughness of the interference stimulus may affects subjects judgment and different between the two types. In addition, small or big particles size of fine textures may also influence the perception of roughness in both modalities. Stimulus presentation was always bimodal, but the sensory information content differed as texture information was varied either in the haptic, visual or in both channels.

As discussed in previous chapter, cross modality between visual and tactile in human have been reviewed by many. The intention of this study is to demonstrate the theorem. Cross modality effects are different according to individual and the effects activated by it are also believed to be various. In this chapter, we expect to find the characteristics of those effects related to the cross modal of tactile and visual, during the perception of roughness.

2.2 Experimental stimuli

In this study, we outlined two types of stimuli throughout the experiment; tactile stimuli and visual stimuli. Along with these stimuli, we also arranged the

indication stimuli which functioned as the instructor for the subjects. The indication stimuli make sure that a smooth and continuous experiment can be performed.

2.2.1 Tactile stimuli

Tactile stimuli consisted of six type of different sandpaper which varied in their roughness. Deliberately, the tactile roughness is exactly the same with the correspondence visual stimuli. The number of tactile stimuli presented is written under the stimulus count of file used in each stimulus is a (#). The numbers are: #400, #600, #1000, #2000, #3000, and #5000.

Table 1 Grades of sandpaper

Stimulus number (#)	400	600	1000	2000	3000	5000
Average particle diameter (μ	34	24	15.5	8.5	5.7	1.5
m)						

Index finger of the right hand of subjects contacted with the tactile stimuli. Figure 2.1 is the samples of sandpapers that we used during examination. With 4.5cm width, 0.5mm thick, and 3.5cm of length, the six types variation are referring to the size of particles of abrading materials embedded in the sandpaper based on the Japanese Industrial Standards Committee (JIS).



Fig 2.1 Samples of tactile stimuli



(a) Grit number #400, the roughest sandpaper (b) Grit number #5000, the smoothest sandpaper

Fig 2.2 Close up of roughest stimuli (#400) and smoothest (#5000)

2.2.2 Visual stimuli

We used sandpaper with the same grade as tactile stimuli for all types of visual stimuli. Circle of those sandpapers with diameter of 22.2mm and central angle 25 $^{\circ}$ was captured by scanner and their brightness of grey scale were fixed into one scale. Distance of presented visual stimuli from computer's display to subject's face is 500mm, and the visual roughness is exactly the same with the correspondence tactile stimuli. The circles were presented on a grey screen. The number of tactile stimuli presented in the display, is written in (#), while Reference Stimuli and Comparison Stimuli are randomized according to the task (refer 3.6)



Fig 2.3 Six samples of visual stimuli

2.2.3 Visual indication stimuli

Our future plans include exploring the neural substrates when subjects perceived roughness. To maximize the smoothness of presentation of tactile and visual stimuli, we designed an automated experimental system for maximum smoothness during fMRI experiments. For this reason, we arranged the visual indication stimuli. These stimuli can be divided into three colors. The three colors indicating three different instructions. For every task whether it is visual or tactile task, subjects will be presented two times. The initial stimulus is the Reference Stimulus while the secondary stimulus is the Comparison Stimulus.

As shown in (Figure 2.4), visual indication stimuli are three types of plus symbol (+), presented in the center of display, with 17.5mm size at 2 ° central angle. In what is shown in Figure 2.4 (a), white plus symbol indicates the initial stimulus will be presented in a little while. Black is a sign or reminder for comparison stimulus will be presented. Lastly, red visual indication stimulus is for subjects to touch the tactile stimuli presented to their right hand. Resultantly, red indicators will only be presented

during presence of tactile stimuli. Figure 2.4 shown is the visual indication stimuli in an enlarged view which was used in the experiment.







(a) White indication stimulus

s (b) Black indication stimulus

(c) Red indication stimulus

Fig 2.4 Visual indication Stimuli. From left: white (before Reference Stimulus presented), black (before Comparison Stimulus presented), and red (contact with tactile stimulation)

2.3 Experimental setup and device

2.3.1 Setup

General view is as in Figure 2.5. A display, an experimenter's computer, the experimental device, a jaw stand, and a partition plate all involved into the environment. Subjects needed to place their right hand on top of the cover-plate of the device, and we needed to place their jaw 50 cm from the display. The display was connected to the experimenter's computer and outputs of visual indication stimuli and visual stimuli were displayed and controlled by the experimenter through the computer.



Fig 2.5 General view of experiment

The display and jaw stand were divided with experimenter's PC and the device by a partition plate. With the mouse on the left hand as the response key, the partition plate certainly prevents any visual information from the device and PC. The right hand, get placed on top of the cover-plate of the tactile presentation device and the arm was supported by elbow stand, located at certain location which can be moved according to the subject's hand's length (Figure 2.6).



Fig 2.6 Experimental scene

2.3.2 Tactile presentation device

Figure 2.7 is the detailed elements of the tactile presentation device. Material of the device was all acrylic. The cover-plate allowed subjects to explore only one texture at a time and served as the resting position for the hand in between exploration trials. Beneath the cover-plate is an octagonal prism; fixed at the center as an axis and the presence of two stands with two bearings inside executed a rotation mechanism. The presentation of tactile stimulation was fully controlled by Presentation R software (Neurobehavioral Systems, Inc., Albany, CA, USA).

The octagonal prism is being supported by two stands with height of 90 mm each. Two bearings were inserted in each stands 75mm from the bottom. The axis of the octagonal prism was inserted into both ends of bearings, making it possible for rotation

mechanism. One end of the axis was being connected to a gear; which is 90mm of diameters. The 90mm gears then were connected to another smaller gear (20mm diameters). The smaller gears connected to an ultrasonic motor (Canon precision Co., Ltd)



(a) Without exploration

(b) With exploration

Fig 2.7 Tactile presentation device

Eight surfaces were there in the prism. For this research, we only used six of them. The remaining two surfaced were unused but were built considering any possibilities in future fMRI studies. The surface is exactly the same size with the tactile stimuli (sandpapers) which is 35 mm long and 45 mm width.



(a) Without tactile stimuli



(b) With tactile stimuli

Fig 2.8 The octagonal prism, without (left) and with tactile stimulation (Right)

The ultrasonic motor was used in this research as a preparation for fMRI study. Because the MRI contains strong magnets, metal objects are not allowed into the room with the MRI scanner. That is also why we used plastics as the main material of the device. The ultra-sonic motor was connected to the controller and experimenter's computer, and all of activity by the motor can be controlled by the experimenter, using the computer. Figure 2.9 is the top side view and lateral side view of the ultra sonic motor used.





(a) Lateral view (b) Top view Fig 2.9 Ultrasonic motor used for the tactile presentation device

2.4 Materials and method

2.4.1 Subjects

Ten right-handed, healthy volunteers (all males, mean age of 22.2±1.8 years old) participated in this experiment. All subjects had no remarkable injuries to the hands or fingers, normal visions, and given written informed consent for participation. The local medical ethics committee of Okayama University approved the protocol.

2.4.2 Apparatus and stimuli

Tactile stimuli surfaces consisted of 0.5mm thick sandpapers with six different particle sizes, ranged from 1.5 to 34 μ m (Figure 2.10). Each sandpaper was spray coated

to prevent subject's finger from abrasive. Each sandpapers were fixed to side of prima to present to the subjects with 4.5cm width and 3.5cm of length. High-resolution scanned sandpapers were used as the visual stimuli. The average luminance of visual sandpapers stimuli used in this experiment were constant and they varied only along a single texture dimension, i.e. the average particles diameters, ensuring that changes in other surface properties like color do not influence the results. The six types variation of roughness in each stimulus referred to the size of particles of abrading materials embedded in the sandpaper based on the Japanese Industrial Standards Committee (JIS).



Fig 2.10. Six types of scanned sandpapers used in all task involving visually displayed stimuli. Numbers represented the average of particle sizes of each.

During tactile stimulus exploration, index finger of the right hand of subjects contacted with the tactile stimuli. The cover-plate allowed subjects to explore only one texture at a time and served as the resting position for the hand in be-tween exploration trials. Beneath the cover-plate is an octagonal prism; fixed at the center as an axis and the presence of two stands with two bearings inside executed a rotation mechanism. The octagonal prism was supported by two stands with height of 90 mm each. Two bearings were insert-ed in each stands 75mm from the bottom. The axis of the octagonal prism was inserted into both ends of bearings, making it possible for rotation mechanism. The

presentation of tactile stimulation was fully controlled by Presentation R software (Neurobehavioral Systems, Inc., Albany, CA, USA). The surface is exactly the same size with the tactile stimuli (sandpapers) which is 35mm long and 45mm width. The display was connected to the experimenter's computer and outputs of visual indication stimuli and visual stimuli were displayed and controlled by the experimenter. The visual display and chin rest stand were divided with experimenter's computer and the tactile texture presentation device by a partition plate. With the mouse on the left hand as the response key, the partition plate certainly prevents any visual information from the device and PC. The right hand, get placed on top of the cover-plate of the tactile presentation device and the arm was supported by elbow stand, located at certain location which can be moved according to the subject's hand's length (Fig 2.11)



(a) Subjects' position



(c) Tactile stimuli presenting device



(b) Visual display



(d) Exploration window

Fig 2.11 Subject's position, visual display, and tactile device (a) Illustration from the top view of the position of subject, display, mouse, and the tactile surface presenting device. Experimenter's computer and the device were distracted from subject's visual range by a partition plate. (b) Illustration of the visual display with 20 degree of angle view (c) Controlled tactile stimuli presenting device which positioned at subjects' right hand. Subject will explore the sandpapers at the exploration window by their index finger, such as in (d).

2.4.3 Procedures

Primarily, the experiment consisted of two unimodal tasks and two bimodal tasks. In unimodal task, subjects only need to perceive whether visually or tactually. Bimodal task is where subjects need to the same task as unimodal, but they were asked to perceive the interference stimulus. Bimodal task furthermore divided into two: one with rough interference stimulus ($34\mu m$) and smooth interference stimulus ($1.5 \mu m$). The all six tasks are:

- 1) Unimodal Tactile-only task (T-T)
- 2) Unimodal Visual-only task (V-V)
- 3) Bimodal Tactile Task with rough visual interference stimulus (T-Tv-rough)
- 4) Bimodal Tactile Task with smooth visual interference stimulus (T-Tv-smooth)
- 5) Bimodal Visual task with rough tactile interference stim-ulus (V-Vt-rough)
- 6) Bimodal Visual task with smooth tactile interference stimulus (V-Vt-smooth)

Subjects were presented sequentially two times in every trial; initial stimulation is called reference stimulus (RS) and the latter is comparison stimulus (CS). Subjects were instructed whether to look at the display or to explore the textures by sweeping their index finger in determined times with command by the indication stimuli.

Inter-stimulus Reference Comparison Interval stimulus (RS) interval stimulus (CS) Tactile action Visual Display (b) Unimodal Visual- Visual task (V-V) Visual Display Response time Duration n 6 8 2 Time (s)

(a) Unimodal Tactile- Tactile task (T-T)

Fig 2.12 Time chart for one trial in the unimodal task of tactile T-T, visual V-V. Separated by two seconds of interval, subjects were presented with the stimuli twice in each task, which are the reference stimulus (RS) and the comparison stimulus (CS). In (a) T-T task, subjects need to explore the RS when the red signal presented before they may explore the CS. Once perceived the roughness

of CS, the subjects will response by mouse click and the next trial will begin. In (b) V-V task, subjects performed the same procedures as in T-T task with the visual stimulation. In bimodal task, subjects need to do both task when perceiving CS. After the inter-stimulus interval, subjects need to response whether perceived CS was "rougher", "smoother", or "same" compared to RS, as soon as possible.

In T-T task, subjects need to identify the roughness of two different (or same) tactile stimuli. First, a white visual indication stimulus was presented on the screen for 2 seconds. Next, red visual indication stimulus was presented for 4 seconds. At the same time, tactile RS was presented to subject's right hand and subjects need to explore the stimulus with their index finger. Visual display then presented black inter-stimulus interval stimulus for 2 seconds to make sure the subjects ready for the CS. CS then presented to subjects, and simultaneously the response time was measured. After exploration, subjects needed to click the mouse with their left hand as soon as possible. Left click if CS was "rougher" than RS, right click if CS was "smoother" than RS, and middle click if they feel both roughness was at the "same" roughness. Once the subject

response, it is counted as one trial. In V-V task, subject was asked to perform the same procedures as T-T, except they need to perceived roughness based on visual stimuli. In bi-modal T-Tv task, subjects need to identify the roughness of two different (or same) rough nesses of tactile stimuli with exploration of visual interference stimuli at CS. Procedures of V-Vt is vice versa of those in T-Tv. (Figure 2.13)



(a) Bimodal Tactile- Tactile task (T-Tv)

Duration

0

2

Fig 2.13 Time chart for one trial in the bimodal tactile T-Tv, and bimodal visual V-Vt. In (a) and (b), subjects need to perform the same task as the corresponding unimodal task, except they need to perceive different-modality interference stimulus with CS. The interference stimulus were two types which are the biggest particle 34 μm and smallest stimulus 1.5 μm.

6

time

Time (s)

8

Six types of stimuli were randomized between RS and CS, and all possible 36 combinations involved. Each combination was repeated 10 times in each session over the course of experiment. For unimodal task (V-V, T-T), there are 36 combinations in

each task, which totaling 360 trials. For bi-modal task (V-Vt and T-Tv), the total amount of trial are doubled into 720 trials because of involvement of interference stimulus. Time estimated for each trial was about 10 to 15 seconds, depending on task. All tasks were randomized and divided into 6 sessions of 90 minutes to ensure all the subjects to avoid fatigue. Subjects at least had two times of intermission in the 90 minutes' session which was not compulsory. Only one session was carried out per day; subjects need at least 6 days to complete all trials. The experiment was carried out in a dark room to sharpen the perception of roughness visually and tactually.

2.4.4 Data processing and analysis

Each participant's response was analyzed to remove outliers and separate incorrect or double click responses. Reaction time and response distributions for each of the tasks were calculated for each subject. Data were then collapsed across participants and compared using two tasks (tactile and visual) × six CS conditions (six different particle sizes of CS) repeated measures analyses of variance (ANOVAs) in every RS condition (from 1.5, 5.7, until 34 µm; out coming six times of ANOVA per task) to determine if response distribution or reaction time differed by cross modal interaction. The level of significance was fixed at P < 0.05 and Bonferroni test (α = 5%) was performed. Post scanning roughness estimates and individual difference in accuracy and reaction time was analyzed in every RS condition that have main effects or significant interaction with CS conditions; in order to verify the validity of the experimental data obtained.

Subjects were forced to make a choice of what they perceived was the rougher of two stimuli, even if they could not detect a difference. The response rate of "same" by subjects were divided into half and were contributed to "rougher" and "smoother" response rate equivalently. As assumption, the guess rate (chance level) is 50% when subject perceive same size of RS and CS. The largest rate of the response "rougher" percentage is 100% and the smallest will be 0% when subject perceived CS is smoother than RS. Therefore, the sigmoid psychometric function changed from 0% to 100%. We also measured the CS threshold for each RS at 25% and 75%. The logistic curve is the most common sigmoid curve used extensively in cognitive psychological experiments for measuring thresholds [11][12][13]. The response rate data was applied to the

following logistic function.

$$Threshold = d^{-1}Ln(\frac{1-X}{X})$$

In this equation, d is the unique degrees of freedom of the logistic curve. X is 0.25 or 0.75 when we calculated threshold for each RS at 25% and 75% respectively. All of the analyses were performed using RStudio Desktop version 1.0.136 (RStudio, Inc.) and SPSS version 17.0 (SPSS, Tokyo, Japan)

2.5 Results

The experiment demanded subjects to compare six different RS to six different CS in two unimodal tasks. A round robin of combinations demanded every subject to do 360 trials for each unimodal task. They also needed to do the same task while perceiving the interference stimulus, making it 720 trials for each bimodal task. In this study, we arranged subject's reaction time and response by each RS order, starting from RS 1.5, 5.7, until 34 μ m. We then performed a two modality (tactile and visual) × six CS conditions (six different particle sizes of CS) repeated-measures ANOVA on the data by each RS. We first checked whether there were any main effects of modality, main effects of CS conditions, or significant interaction between the modality and conditions (modality ×CS conditions) in every RS. In the present study, if there were no significant interaction, we will also consider the main effect of modality before doing the post hoc analysis.

2.5.1 Reaction time

Overall, subjects needed more time to response in tactile task compared to visual task (Figure 2.14). When we compared unimodal tactile and unimodal visual task, there was significance interaction between modality and CS conditions in almost all RS (e.g F(5,95)=4.534, P<0.005 in RS 1.5µm). This was expected since tactile task need the subjects to touch and perceived the tactile before clicking.



Fig 2.14 Response time and proportion of 'rougher' response between unimodal T-T

However, there were no significant differences of response time within each modality when we compared unimodal and bimodal task. This result showed that subjects can response in almost the same time during the bimodal task and the interference stimulus seems did not restraint the time for subjects to response; even in condition that demand them to perceive stimuli by both modalities. In the present study, we did not concentrate on reaction time for discussion



Fig 2.15 Response time between unimodal V-V and bimodal tasks

2.5.2 Proportion of "rougher" response

Subjects needed to response whether left click, right click or middle click when they sensed CS was "rougher" than RS, "smoother" than RS, or the "same" roughness, respectively We analysed the response distributions of every subject in order to find any kind of effects that generated during bimodal task; visually or tactually. The proportions of "rougher" response by subjects in every task were analysed and we separated them according to RS and CS in order.



Fig 2.16. Individual results of (a) tactile task and (b) visual task.

The rates of the response "rougher" as a function of the particle size of the tactile CS are plotted in Figure 2.16 and Figure 2.17b. RS for each CS are arranged vertically in ascending order from 1.5 to $34\mu m$.



Fig 2.17 Response time and proportion of 'rougher' response between unimodal T-T and unimodal V-V. In (a), subjects needed more time to response in tactile tasks. In (b), roughness tendency were more to visual when the RS is below 8.5 μ m, but more to tactile after RS of 15.5 μ m and above.

To show the difference between tactile and visual rough-ness perception, we compared the proportion of "rougher" response in the unimodal T-T to those in V-V task (Figure 2.17b). Overall, subjects tend to differentiate between smooth and rough excellently when RS and CS are not similar (e.g. 1.5 vs 34, 1.5 vs 24). We performed a two modality (tactile and visual) × six CS conditions (six different particle sizes of CS) repeated-measures ANOVA on the proportion of "rougher" response for each RS. We found significant main effect on modality [F(1,99)=37.54, P < 0.001 in RS 1.5µm] and

significant main effect on CS conditions [F(5,95)=428.09, P < 0.001 in RS 1.5µm]. We also found a significant interaction between the modality and CS condition [F(5,95)=26.77, P < 0.001 in RS 1.5µm]. We made a post hoc comparison using Bonferroni correction and we focused on where there were significant difference between modalities on each comparison of RS and CS (asterisk in Fig 4). The post hoc comparison revealed that "rougher" response rate of V-V were significantly higher than those in T-T for RS of 1.5 until 8.5 µm. Interestingly, the opposite phenomenon can be seen from RS of 15.5µm as T-T were significantly higher than those in V-V, except for the comparison of 24µm and 15.5µm.

In order to understand the consequences of cross modalities between tactile and visual, we analyzed the difference between unimodal task and bimodal task, separately by respective modalities. Applying same method as previous paragraph, we highlighted the proportion of "rougher" response in unimodal and separately compared to the two corresponding bimodal task. In tactile, there were one condition with main effects when we compared T-T with T-Tv-rough (Figure 2.18a) and another three conditions when we compared T-T with T-Tv-smooth (Fig 2.18b). In Fig 2.18a, posthoc analysis showed that rough visual interference stimulus made subjects tend to feel the same stimulus to be tactually rougher than origin (unimodal) perception. On the other hand, smooth visual interference stimulus affects subject's roughness perception with random pattern.



Fig 2.18 Proportion of 'rougher' response between unimodal T-T and bimodal T-Tv-rough and unimodal T-T and bimodal T-Tv-smooth. Bold areas (RS 24μm in (a), 8.5, 15.5, 24μm in (b)) are RS with main effects or interaction between the two tasks and CS conditions. Multiple comparisons showed that in (a), rough visual interference stimulus made subjects tend to feel the same stimulus to be tactually rougher than actual (unimodal) perception. In (b), smooth visual interference stimulus affects subject's roughness perception with random pattern.

Dissimilarly to tactile task, we detected even more conditions with main effects caused by tactile interference stimulus in visual task. As showed in Fig 2.18a, four conditions with main effects were spotted when we compared V-V with V-Vtrough. Multiple comparisons in each RS and CS combinations showed that subjects tend to perceive rougher in bimodal rough task. Furthermore, we so identified all conditions with main effects with most of post hoc analysis recorded p-value less than 0.005 between V-V and V-Vt-smooth (Fig 2.18b). Overall, rough and smooth tactile interference stimulus affects subject's roughness perception randomly in visual tasks.



Fig 2.19 Proportion of 'rougher' response between unimodal V-V and bimodal V-Vt-rough and unimodal V-V and bimodal V-Vt-smooth. Post-hoc multiple comparison showed significant difference was detected in more pairs of RS (bold area) compared to those in unimodal and bimodal tactile task. Moreover, far notable amount of significant difference was found in (b) rather than (a). Overall, rough and smooth tactile interference stimulus affects subject's roughness perception randomly.

To understand the reason of significant differences be-tween modalities, we analyzed and evaluated six stimuli that we used in this study. According to Weber's Law, the ratio of the increment threshold to the background intensity is a constant. Applying this law, we calculated the 25% and 75% threshold of CS for each RS in every task, find the middle point, and divide by corresponding RS.



Fig 2.20 For example, in T-T task, with a reference of 1.5μm, subjects need CS of approximately 5μm to eventually perceive it as the same roughness. In this figure, small particle (1.5, 5.7 μm) showed greater value compared to others in each task

The outcome constant number showed the Weber's constant which is the increment threshold of each RS to perceive the same size of CS (e.g. RS 8.5 and CS 8.5). As showed in Fig 7, all six tasks showed the same pattern; high constant of small particles and very low constant in big particles (from 15.5μ m). As an example, in T-T task, to compare with reference stimulus of 1.5 μ m, the increment threshold that subjects needed were 5.1 to perceive CS of 1,5 μ m.

2.6 Discussion

We were interested to explore the mechanism inside tactile, visual and the interaction between them in the perception of roughness using fine textures. By designing two unimodal tasks and four bimodal tasks accompanying both modalities, we expected to understand more about how humans perceive roughness in behavioral level of tactile and visual

2.6.1 Tactile dominant roughness perception of fine surface

The comparison of unimodal tasks (T-T and V-V) in our study suggested that roughness comparison was related to the spatial properties of the surfaces. We focused on combinations where subjects need to compare CS that was larger than the RS, where subjects were presented CS that were rougher than comparison (right side of reference line in Fig 2.17b, 2.18, 2.19). We detected that subjects perceived a surface rougher visually when the RS is small, but perceived rougher tactually when the RS is bigger (Fig 2.17). This phenomenon can be clarified as the RA (rapidly adapting) and PC (Pacinian corpuscle) afferents in the skin were considered to encode temporal variations related to different surfaces, and the subjects could use the temporal features to reach their final decision regarding their perception. Two factors that can be considered to determine the human perception of haptic roughness are the spatial properties and the temporal properties by touch [5][14][15]. Surfaces with small particles may generate high temporal frequencies, which led the subject to perceive a smoother surface tactually. Bensmaia et al [7] also stated that the perception of surface larger than 200µm was encoded by the spatial and temporal properties that were
dominant in the haptic perception of fine surface roughness. In the present study, subjects' roughness estimation almost showed particle size dependence, therefore led the subject to perceive a smoother surface.

While in visual, the perception of visual roughness is a complex process that may generate more complex neural activations, which much depends on the direction of illumination, viewpoint, and the shadow [9][16][17]. Even we con-trolled the average luminance of all visual stimuli, small particles might give little information to subjects compared to other factors as the visual texture perception mainly focuses on the ability to different distributions of properties such as brightness, size, color, or slope[18].

2.6.2 Influence of interference stimulus in each other modality during cross modalities

How multisensory information is integrated from different modalities and accommodate in brain is still unclear. The bimodal tasks that we composed into present study were carried out in order to find if there is any type of acceleration or suppression in either accuracy rate or reaction time during the appearance of another sensory in a single sensory task. These experiments demanded participants' ability to make quick and accurate discriminations between multisensory stimuli.

Our results suggested that in bimodal sensory tasks, both visual and tactile tasks roughness perception were influenced, although in different volume. Visual sensory receive a big impact when cross modality occurred from tactile information, more than tactile sensory received. This can be explained by behavioral evidence by Klatzky et al [19] that indicated surface roughness is particularly salient to the tactile sense. On the contrary, we suggest that tactile sensory receiving little effects from visual information when two sensory are working. This may suggest that information encoded across vision and touch may not transfer efficiently across modalities, but we proposed tactile to do the "job" better than vision does.

Moreover, subjects needed more time to response in tac-tile task compared to visual task, but we found no significant differences of response time within each modality when we compared unimodal and bimodal task. This result showed that subjects can response in almost the same time during the bimodal task and the interference stimulus seems did not restraint the time for subjects to response; even in condition that demand them to perceive stimuli by both modalities. In the present study, we did not concentrate on reaction time for discussion but we did observe a trend for reductions in the magnitude of the performance decrements under bimodal tasks, but such changes were quite small in tactile. However, things were different in visual task. As roughness is recognizes as an important perceptual dimension of texture, this result supports the study by Guest et al [20] which stated the dominance of tactile in texture perception. Moreover, these may suggest that both modalities information processing may not be excellently integrated and dependently different across them.

2.6.3 "Smooth" and "rough" in fine textures

Katz in his review [3] noted that spatial features under 100 μ m have different mechanism for perceiving haptic roughness. In the present study, we can divide fine textures into two types, the smoother group (1.5, 5.7, 8.5 μ m) and coarser group (15.5, 24, 34 μ m). Comparing unimodal tasks directly showed us that subjects perceive the smoother and coarser group differently. This difference showed the importance of spatial features for tactile roughness perception but also challenged on how subjects perceive visually. We suggest that even in spatial features under 100 μ m, the perception of haptic roughness might diverse in small particle recognition where visual is dominant.

In addition, by looking for type of acceleration or suppression in direct comparison with rough and smooth bimodal tasks, we found that smooth interference stimulus $(1.5\mu m)$ played a big role to interfere with subject's perception. In Figure 2.21, small particle has big Weber's constant in every tactile and visual task. Subjects need more "roughness" to match two visual or tactile stimuli with small particles textures $(1.5, 5.7 \ \mu m)$ rather than big particles $(8.5, 15.5, 24, 34 \ \mu m)$. By touch or by visual, small particle such as $1.5\mu m$ have big "noise" during recognition caused the subjects to confuse during perceiving interference stimulus. The lack of evidence of better performance in bimodal relative to unimodal conditions may be due to different information encoded in each modality and the "noise" might affect the relative dominance of each modality to the percept.



Fig 2. 21 Weber's constant (refer: Weber's law) of each RS within every task. We define the outcome Weber's constant here as the increment threshold of each RS to perceive the same size of CS (e.g. RS 8.5 and CS 8.5). For example, in T-T task, with a reference of 1.5µm, subjects need CS of approximately 5µm to eventually perceive it as the same roughness. In this graph, small particle (1.5, 5.7 µm) showed greater value compared to others in each task

Vibrotaction of small particles may be the best explanation for the "noise" in tactile tasks. In tactile, fine textures are well acknowledged to be perceived by vibrations evoked on the skin during exploration [2][21], but relied on the amplitude Sandpapers with small particles that we used in the present study might yields a great amplitude across the fingertip compared to the coarser group. Moreover, despite most of previous studies give less attention to the role of vision in roughness perception and most claimed that these modalities encode in separate manner, we found visual stimuli in present study have the same tendency as those in tactile stimuli. However, the fact bimodal tasks were not accelerated nor suppressed the "noise" compared to unimodal tasks suggest that the roughness information encoded differently in each modality.

2.7 Conclusion

In many situations, stimuli from different sensory modalities will likely convey non-matching information, potentially impairing the ability to process one or more of the stimuli. One common example of this situation occurs during a telephone conversation, when it is highly not probable that the visual stimuli in your environment counterpart the auditory stimuli of the telephone conversation.

These experiments demonstrate the two modalities influence each other during roughness perception of fine surface. We were interested to explore the mechanism inside tactile, visual and the interaction between them in the perception of roughness using fine textures. By designing two unimodal tasks and four bimodal tasks accompanying both modalities, we expected to understand more about how humans perceive roughness in behavioral level of tactile and visual. The experimental results are summarized as follows;

- 1) Tactile dominant roughness perception of fine surface
- 2) In bimodal sensory tasks, both visual and tactile tasks roughness perception were influenced, although in different volume.
- Smaller particles give more influences to accelerate or suppress roughness judgement in each other modality

Chapter 3 Neural mechanisms of Roughness Perception by Tactile Visual Cross-modal dot pattern

Abstract

Human sensations always involve in interaction, but a lot of brain's response during the interaction is still unknown. This study was designed to discover the unresolved part of the brain during performing visual and tactile interaction roughness recognition experiments. We intended to measure the peak value of roughness recognition during the behavioural experiments, but it was not possible to obtain the peak value. For this study, we measured brain activity using fMRI. We designed four types of tasks: visual task (VV), tactile task (TT), visual - tactile task (VT), tactile visual task (TV). The common area of each of the brain activation during each task was analysed; and the results showed that activations located in the frontal and parietal, suggesting these regions were actively involved in the cross-modal processing. Specific activation for the information from the tactile and visual modality was seen in the frontal and parietal lobe, respectively, suggesting the particular activation in each at this region.

3.1 Introduction

Humans need to be able to differentiate surface qualities of objects not only by touch but also visually. This is important for object recognition and for the interaction with objects in our environment[22]. Behavioural studies showed that both haptic and visual information add to texture perception [23] and that a cross modal transfer of texture information between both sensory modalities occurs[24].

Several neuroimaging studies focused on texture matching and discrimination [25][26][27][28] [29][26] as well as on different dimensions of texture perception within the tactile and visual modality; examples include spatial density [30] [31], spatial orientation [32][31];) and roughness [33][30] [34] [35][36]. Most of the tactile studies states the importance of the parietal operculum and the posterior insula [27][34] [35][36] [37] for processing surface textures, while studies focusing on visual texture perception often report regions near the collateral sulcus, the lingual gyrus and areas in early visual cortex[25][38] [39][40] [28][37] [29]

A recent approach by Hiramatsu et al [41] investigated how visual material properties are coded in the cortex along the ventral visual pathway. A similar distributed network was described by Sathian et al [29] for the processing of haptic texture information. In connectivity analyses Sathian and colleagues showed a flow of texture information from task-non-selective regions of the postcentral gyrus to texture-selective areas in the parietal operculum and further to regions of the middle occipital cortex. Despite the pure tactile stimulation in many paradigms, consistent visual cortex activation was reported in several of these studies[42] [36][37].

All of the studies that have been mentioned discussed texture perception in separate visual and haptic paradigms. The effect of simultaneous visual and haptic exploration of textures perception has been mostly ignored. An overlap of visual and haptic texture representations in some brain areas can be expected, but interaction between visual and haptic information in the regions were not anticipated. The imaging study by Sathian et al [29] might give the first idea. Behavioral studies also indicate the existence of such crossmodal interaction and matching effects in visuo-haptic tasks. It was shown that people consistently and absolutely match specific tactile vibration rates to visual spatial frequencies [10] indicating some kind of crossmodal association effect in visual and

haptic texture perception. Additionally, simultaneous tactile stimulation can disambiguate binocular rivalry, a process in which two equally salient but dissimilar monocular stimuli are presented to corresponding retinal locations [43].

The main objective of the present chapter was to investigate texture perception in a paradigm that combines visual and haptic input in a single condition in order to explore crossmodal interactions at the cortical level. Cross modality effects are different according to individual and the effects activated by it are also believed to be various. In this study, we expect to find the characteristics of those effects related to the cross modal of tactile and visual, during the perception of roughness. We would expect these crossmodal effects already in early sensory cortices, e.g. postcentral gyrus and posterior occipital cortex[44] [41] [42] [29] [37], but perception-related differences rather in higher-order cortical regions, the parietal operculum and the insula [40][41][34]. Occupying on earlier studies we assumed roughness perception by haptic to be correlated with the dot spacing [45][46].

3.2 Experimental stimuli

In this study, we outlined two types of stimuli throughout the experiment; tactile stimuli and visual stimuli. Along with these stimuli, we also arranged the indication stimuli which functioned as the instructor for the subjects. The indication stimuli make sure that a smooth and continuous experiment can be performed.

3.2.1 Tactile stimuli

Tactile stimuli consisted of five types of different acrylic plates which embossed with different dot patterns. Deliberately, the tactile roughness is exactly the same with the correspondence visual stimuli. Each plate is 50.0mm length and 40mm width, which sums the surface area of the stimuli to 20 cm^2 . The dots were arranged periodically. The dots are 0.6mm high and diameter of 0.8mm.

Index finger of the right hand of subjects contacted with the tactile stimuli. Figure 3.1 is the samples of tactile dot patterns that we used during examination. The inter dot

spacing ranged from 1mm to 9mm, in steps of 2mm. The stimuli were manufactured by machining equipment of Okayama University.



Fig 3.1 Samples of tactile stimuli

Table 3.1 Samples of tactile stimuli

Stimulus	1	2	3	4	5
Inter-dot spacing mm()	1.00	3.00	5.00	7.00	9.00

3.2.2 Visual stimuli

We used dot patterns with the same inter-dot spacing as tactile stimuli for all types of visual stimuli. The brightness of grey scale was fixed into one scale. Distance of presented visual stimuli from computer's display to subject's face is 500mm, and the visual scale is exactly the same with the correspondence tactile stimuli. The circles were presented on a grey screen.



Fig 3.2 Five samples of visual stimuli

3.2.3 Visual indication stimuli

To maximize the smoothness of presentation of tactile and visual stimuli, we designed an automated experimental system for maximum smoothness during fMRI experiments. For this reason, we designed the visual indication stimuli. In this chapter, these stimuli can be divided into four types with four colors. The four colors indicating four different types of instructions. For every task whether it is visual or tactile task, subjects will be presented three times. The initial stimulus is the Reference Stimulus while the secondary stimulus is the Target Stimulus.

As shown in Figure 3.3, visual indication stimuli are four types of cross symbol (+), presented in the center of display, with 17.5mm size at 2 ° central angle. In what is shown, white cross symbol indicates the initial stimulus will be presented in a little while and the subjects need to prepare. Blue and green cross symbols are signs or

reminder for subjects to explore the tactile stimulation (dot stimuli). Lastly, red cross symbol is a sign or reminder for subjects to response their answer with the response button. Blue and green indicators will only be presented during presence of tactile stimuli. Figure 3.3 shown is the visual indication stimuli in an enlarged view which was used.



Fig 3.3 Visual indication stimuli. From left: white (before Reference Stimulus presented), black (before Comparison Stimulus presented), and red (contact with tactile stimulation)

Besides, to avoid subject confusion during experiment, we designed another two types of visual indication stimuli. The experiment was carried out randomly within four tasks. Thus, subjects need to be aware of the type of forthcoming stimuli, whether it is visual or tactile stimulation. Before the presentation of visual/ tactile stimuli, two Japanese characters which defined "visual" and "tactile" were presented to subjects for two seconds.



(a)Indication stimuli before visual stimuli presentation



(b) Indication stimuli before tactile stimuli presentation

Fig 3.4 Pre-visual and pre-tactile indication stimuli.

3.3 Experimental setup

3.3.1 Pre experiment

Before the main experiment, we held a pre experiment to verify each stimulation. A roughness measure was used in the experiment. Subjects needed to place their right hand at the tactile stimulation, and their left hand need to estimate the roughness by using the measure.



Fig 3.5 Six types of scanned sandpapers used in all task involving visually displayed stimuli. Numbers represented the average of particle sizes of each.

3.3.2 Functional MRI experiment

Since MRI uses strong magnetic fields around the head of the subject within a narrow tunnel, any device used concurrently with MRI must be free of ferromagnetic elements and not interactive with the magnetic field. Therefore, we used plastic to build the tactile stimuli and experimenters who deliver the tactile patterns. Figure 3.7 illustrates the tactile presentation system. In case of an emergency, we will stop all activation. During functional MRI experiments, the experimenter will guide the subjects in the MRI room once the scans have started. Subjects can be easily modified to move their finger along the tactile dot stimuli.



Fig 3.6 General view of tactile stimulation in the fMRI room



Fig 3.7 General view of subjects lied down inside the fMRI tunnel

A device operating in an MRI environment is required to be free of ferromagnetic elements. The device cannot create any radio frequency interference that could potentially degrade the MRI image. We verified that the response button was working properly and that stable waveforms were recorded during the MRI scans. The wires for the motors and optical sensors were shielded cables (copper type) to reduce any radio frequency interference.



(b) Lateral view

Fig 3.8 Illustration of subject's position inside the tunnel

The insulation of the electrical components and the possible radio frequency heating of the wires were important factors considered in the design. The system has all control and signal cables contained within a plastic frame, eliminating possible contact with the subject. The device and its setup must allow the safe exit of the subject in an emergency. If the subject experiences an emergency condition, the primary device will stop all motors through the safety switch.

3.4 Materials and method

3.4.1 Subjects

Seven right-handed healthy male volunteers aged 23–28 years (mean age 24.6 ± 0.71 years) participated in the fMRI study. Before the start of the experiment, all subjects

participated in a training session outside of the MR scanner in which they were instructed to perform all the procedures in the protocol. All subjects gave their informed written consent, and this study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Human and Animal Experiments, Okayama University, Japan.

3.4.1 Apparatus and stimuli

Haptic stimuli consisted of seven 5×5 cm2 plastic plates, six embossed with different dot patterns and one control stimulus without any dots. The dots were arranged non-periodically and were 0.8 mm in diameter and 0.6 mm in elevation. The only characteristic that varied between the textures was the mean center-to-center dot spacing of each stimulus and hence the number of texture elements (dots). The average inter-dot spacing ranged from 1.50 mm to 2.75 mm and increased in steps of 0.25 mm (see Table 1 for detailed information on the stimulus characteristics)..

3.4.2 Procedures

Primarily, the experiment consisted of two unimodal tasks and two bimodal tasks. In unimodal task, subjects only need to perceive whether visually or tactually. Bimodal task is where subjects need to the same task as unimodal, but they were asked to perceive the interference stimulus. The all four tasks are:

- 1) Unimodal Visual-only task (V-V)
- 2) Bimodal Visual-tactile task (V-T)
- 3) Unimodal Tactile-only task (T-T)
- 4) Bimodal Tactile-visual task (T-V)

Subjects were presented sequentially two times in every trial; initial stimulation is called reference stimulus (RS) and the latter is target stimulus (TS). Subjects were instructed whether to look at the display or to explore the textures by sweeping their index finger in determined times with command by the indication stimuli.



Fig 3. 9 Time chart for one trial in the unimodal task of V-V and bimodal V-T. Separated by four seconds of interval and instruction, subjects were presented with the stimuli twice in each task, which are the reference stimulus (RS) and the target stimulus (TS)

In V-V task, subjects need to compare the roughness of visual stimuli twice. First, a white visual indication stimulus was presented on the screen for 2 seconds. Next, previsual indication stimulus was presented for 2 seconds, demanding subjects to prepare for visual stimulation. Next, subjects presented the first visual stimulation for two seconds. Visual display then presented white inter-stimulus interval stimulus for 2 seconds to make sure the subjects ready for the TS. Pre-tactile indication stimulus then presented to subjects for two seconds. Next, subjects will be presented TS for four seconds. In TS, five types of dot pattern were presented with each were numbered from 1 to 5, and subjects needed to compare which stimulus had the same roughness with the first stimulation at RS. After four seconds, red interval stimulus will be presented and simultaneously the response time was measured. Subjects needed to push the response button with their left hand as soon as possible. The button response were four colours and subjects needed to press red for "1", green if "2", yellow if "3", and blue if "4". Subjects were asked to press yellow and blue (no sequential order required)

for the response "5". Once the subject response, it is counted as one trial.



Fig 3.10 Time chart for one trial in the unimodal task of tactile T-T and bimodal T-V. Separated by four seconds of interval and instruction, subjects were presented with the stimuli twice in each task, which are the reference stimulus (RS) and the target stimulus (TS)

In T-T task, subject was asked to perform the same procedures as V-V except they need to perceived roughness based on tactile stimulation. In bimodal V-T task, subjects need to select the roughness of tactile stimuli in TS which have the same roughness with the first visual stimulation at RS. Procedures of T-V is vice versa of those in V-T (Fig 3.10)

Stimulus timing and presentation was controlled by Presentation® software (Neurobehavioral Systems, Inc., Albany, CA, USA). Subjects were informed that they would be presented with two visual, two haptic, or one of each task at each trial. Participants were instructed to explore the textures by sweeping twice with their right index across the surface while simultaneously focusing on the visual image presented on the screen. The importance of the simultaneous start and termination of the visual and haptic exploration was specifically stressed by the experimenter in order to control

the temporal synchrony of the sensory input. Trial intervals were intermixed with intervals of rest. Auditory cues delivered via headphones instructed the experimenter to turn to the correct tactile stimulation during the inter-stimulus-intervals. Right before scanning started; subjects practiced the exploration movement in the scanner with two dot pattern textures that were not used in the experiment. The practice session lasted until the movement was experienced by the subject as effortless, it was synchronized with the duration of the exploration interval and all other motion was reduced to a minimum. This took on average five minutes but never longer than ten minutes. The practice session ensured that the attention of the subject was not focused on the motion sequence but on the tactile and visual sensations.

There was a visual, haptic, and visual-haptic condition in which the availability of texture information for the tactile and visual sense was varied but the input modalities and motor task demands were kept constant. Each dot pattern was repeated 10 times in each condition over the course of the experiment. The condition and stimulus presentation was semi-randomized and the events of interest were randomly presented. The experiment was split into 3 functional runs. The event-related fMRI design was based on an approach described by Eck et al [16].

3.4.3 Data processing and analysis

Functional magnetic resonance imaging was acquired on a 3-T Siemens Trio wholebody MRI system. Standard sequence parameters were used to obtain the functional images as follows: repetition time = 2000 ms; echo time = 25 ms; flip angle= 77° ; field of view = 260×260 . A T1-weighted high-resolution anatomical image volume was obtained from each participant (voxel size= $1 \times 1 \times 1$ mm³) before the acquisition of the functional data.

Statistical Parametric Mapping 5 (SPM5, Wellcome Department of Imaging Neuroscience, University College London, London, UK) software was used for the images and statistical analyses. Statistical analysis was conducted with a fixed effects analysis using the general linear model framework. Significantly activated voxels were identified if they reached the height threshold of p < 0.001 uncorrected.

3.5 Results

We divided the results into two parts; behavioral and fMRI results. In behavioral, we looked on how accurate were the subjects responded the same dot pattern between the first reference stimulation (RS) and target stimulation (TS).

3.5.1 Behavioral results

The chance level to response the same spatial dot pacing between RS and TS was 20% (5 types of target stimulus). In general, probability distribution of TS increased when the same reference and target were presented, visually and haptically.

In V-V task, subjects responded 80% to 100% the same dot spacing as reference when the RS was 1mm and 3mm. The lowest distribution was during RS of 9mm. This result showed that subjects can almost accurately judge the spatial spacing of each of five types of visual stimulation, with the lowest distribution was above 50%.



(a) Reference stimulus = 1 mm



(b) Reference stimulus = 3 mm



(c) Reference stimulus = 5 mm



(a) Reference stimulus = 1 mm



(b) Reference stimulus = 3 mm



(c) Reference stimulus = 5 mm



(d) Reference stimulus = 7 mm



(e) Reference stimulus = 9 mm





(d) Reference stimulus = 7 mm



(e) Reference stimulus = 9 mm

Fig 3.12 Behavioral results of VT task

In V-T, subjects responded more than 80% the same dot spacing of target stimulus as reference when the RS was 1mm. The lowest distribution was during RS of 9mm. This result showed that subjects were also managed to almost accurately judge the spatial spacing even when the main modality during reference and target was different. These results may suggest the efficient connection between visual and tactile during roughness perception.

In T-T task, subjects responded more than 80% the same dot spacing of target stimulus as reference when the RS was 1mm and 5mm. The lowest distribution was during RS of 3mm. This result showed that subjects were also managed to almost accurately judge the spatial spacing of each of five types of tactile stimulation, with the lowest distribution was above 50%.



(a) Reference stimulus = 1 mm



(c) Reference stimulus = 5 mm

3 5 7 Dot spacing(mm)



(d) Reference stimulus = 7 mm



(e) Reference stimulus = 9 mm





(a) Reference stimulus = 1 mm



(b) Reference stimulus = 3 mm



(c) Reference stimulus = 5 mm



(d) Reference stimulus = 7 mm



(e) Reference stimulus = 9 mm

Fig 3.14 Behavioral results of TV task

Similar with V-T task; in T-V task, subjects responded more than 80% the same dot spacing of target stimulus as reference when the RS was 1mm. However, low distribution can be seen from RS of 5mm and above. The lowest distribution was during RS of 7mm, which almost had same distribution with another size of spacing (in Figure

3.13, the case was 5mm). This result showed that even subjects managed to almost accurately judge the spatial spacing even when the main modality during reference and target was different, there were different tendency between visual-tactile sequence and tactile-visual sequence within experiment task These results may suggest the difference between visual and tactile dominance during roughness perception.

3.5.2 Neural activation in specific stimuli cognition

We analyzed the neural activation and examine the brain activation during all situations in each task to compare the activations between cognition of reference and target stimuli.

Main activation during recognition of reference stimulus in V-V task: was seen in left and right side of Middle Occipital Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus, and left Inferior frontal Gyrus. The left inferior frontal gyrus (IFG) is remarkably important for language comprehension and production due to the fact that most language processing takes place in the left hemisphere. Commonly known as "Broca's area", persons with damage in this region often have a type of non-fluent aphasia known as Broca's aphasia.

				MN	I coordina	ates
Cluster [voxel]	Anatomical region	side	T value	Х	Y	Z
221	Middle Occipital Gyrus	left	5.12	-21	-90	6
	N/A	left	5.11	-24	-81	-6
190	Middle Occipital Gyrus	right	5.65	27	-87	3
	Fusiform Gyrus	right	5.03	30	-81	-6
32	IFG (p.Opercularis)	left	4.21	-42	9	24

 Table 3.2 Main foci during recognition of RS in V-V task

Main activation during recognition of Target Stimulus: in V-V task was seen in right Fusiform Gyrus, left and right Linual Gyrus, Middle Occipital Gyrus, and Cuneus, left Precentral Gyrus, Inferior Frontal Gyrus, and right Precentral Gyrus. The precentral gyrus is a prominent structure on the surface of the posterior frontal lobe. It is the site of the primary motor cortex (Brodmann area 4). The precentral gyrus lies in front of the

postcentral gyrus, mostly on the lateral (convex) side of the cerebral hemispheres from which it is separated by the central sulcus. Medially, it is contiguous with the paracentral lobule.

				MNI coordinates			
Cluster [voxel]	Anatomical region	side	T value	Х	Y	Z	
4753	Fusiform Gyrus	right	10.54	27	-69	-15	
	Linual Gyrus	right	10.19	18	-81	-3	
	Linual Gyrus	left	0.68	-6	-81	-3	
	Middle Occipital Gyrus	right	8.89	30	-81	15	
	Cuneus	right	7.42	18	-93	15	
	Middle Occipital Gyrus	left	7.26	-18	-90	15	
	Linual Gyrus	left	6.65	-24	-60	-12	
161	Precentral Gyrus	left	4.78	-54	9	33	
	IFG (p. Opercularis)	left	4.29	-42	6	24	
111	Precentral Gyrus	right	5.84	45	6	30	
	IFG (p. Opercularis)	right	4.41	48	9	21	
54	Precentral Gyrus	right	4.58	30	-9	51	

 Table 3.3 Main foci during recognition of TS in V-V task

Main activation during recognition of reference stimulus in T-T task was seen in Supramarginal Gyrus, left Precentral Gyrus, the Insula lobe, Postcentral gyrus, rolandic Operculum, Thalamus, Putamen, and right pallidum. The somatosensory cortex activated by the tactile experiment is a site that reacts when recognizing tactile stimuli, which is consistent with previous studies. The thalamus is the large mass of gray matter in the dorsal part of the diencephalon of the brain with several functions such as relaying of sensory and motor signals to the cerebral cortex and the regulation of consciousness, sleep, and alertness.

				MNI coordinates			
Cluster[voxel]	Anatomical region	side	T value	Х	Y	Z	
3534	SupraMarginal Gyrus	left	11.05	-51	-24	42	
	Precentral Gyrus	left	10.52	-30	-21	63	
	Precentral Gyrus	left	9.59	-54	6	27	
	Insula Lobe	left	9.28	-36	-6	9	
	Postcentral Gyrus	left	9.26	-39	-24	54	
	Inferior Parietal Lobule	left	9.13	-39	-30	42	
	Postcentral Gyrus	left	8.05	-54	-21	27	
	Rolandic Operculum	left	8.05	-48	-24	18	
	Thalamus	left	7.82	-12	-21	3	
412	MCC	left	5.55	-6	-27	48	
	posterior-medial frontal	left	5.33	-6	-3	51	
	ACC	left	4.19	-3	3	30	
370	Cerebelum(IV-V)	right	10.44	9	-54	-21	
	Cerebelum(VI)	right	8.72	24	-45	-30	
352	Insula Lobe	right	6.61	36	-6	12	
	Precentral Gyrus	right	6.25	45	6	30	
	IFG (p. Opercularis)	right	5.44	51	9	18	
341	Postcentral Gyrus	right	8.46	54	-15	33	
65	IFG (p. Triangularis)	left	5.47	-39	33	12	
65	Putamen	right	4.69	30	18	3	
21	N/A	right	3.71	18	3	12	
	Pallidum	right	3.67	18	3	6	
20	IFG (p. Triangularis)	right	4.42	45	33	9	

Table 3.4 Main foci during recognition of RS in T-T task

Main activation during recognition of target stimulus in T-T task was seen in SupraMarginal Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus, Inferior Parietal Lobule, Postcentral Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus, IFG (p. Opercularis), Superior Parietal Lobule, Postcentral Gyrus, Inferior Parietal Lobule, Cerebelum (IV-V), Superior Parietal Lobule, Superior Occipital Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus, IFG (p. Opercularis), Cerebelum (VI), IFG (p. Triangularis), Middle Frontal Gyrus, IFG (p. Triangularis), and left and right Middle Frontal Gyrus. The main foci of these activations are shown in Table 3.5. In addition to its direct role in motor control, the cerebellum is necessary for several types of motor learning, most notably learning to adjust to changes in sensorimotor relationships.

				MNI coordinates		
Cluster [voxel]	Anatomical region	side	T value	Х	Y	Z
6034	SupraMarginal Gyrus	left	11.82	-51	-24	42
	Precentral Gyrus	left	11.21	-27	-24	69
	Inferior Parietal Lobule	left	9.95	-39	-30	42
	Postcentral Gyrus	left	9.27	-30	-33	60
	Precentral Gyrus	left	9.23	-54	6	27
	IFG (p. Opercularis)	left	8.56	-57	9	21
	Superior Parietal Lobule	left	8.4	-30	-48	60
604	Postcentral Gyrus	right	8.61	54	-15	33
	Inferior Parietal Lobule	right	5.21	33	-48	48
430	Cerebelum (IV-V)	right	10.56	9	-54	-21
312	Superior Parietal Lobule	right	5.41	18	-63	57
	Superior Occipital Gyrus	right	3.86	27	-66	42
231	Precentral Gyrus	right	5.98	48	3	30
	IFG (p. Opercularis)	right	5.58	54	9	21
100	N/A	left	5.14	-18	-57	-30
	Cerebelum (VI)	left	4.29	-30	-48	-36
86	IFG (p. Triangularis)	left	3.81	-48	42	6
	Middle Frontal Gyrus	left	3.76	-27	39	24
	IFG (p. Triangularis)	left	3.54	-42	39	9
	Middle Frontal Gyrus	left	3.54	-45	54	0
31	Middle Frontal Gyrus	right	4.4	36	57	18

 Table 3.5 Main foci during recognition of TS in T-T task

Main activation during cognition of reference stimulus in V-T task was seen in Middle Occipital Gyrus and Superior Occipital Gyrus. The main foci of these activations are shown in Table 3.6.

				MNI coordinates			
Cluster [voxel]	Anatomical region	side	T value	Х	Y	Z	
46	Middle Occipital Gyrus	right	4.35	27	-93	9	
32	Middle Occipital Gyrus	left	4.31	-27	-93	15	
	Superior Occipital Gyrus	left	3.85	-18	-96	18	

 Table 3.6 Main foci during recognition of RS in V-T task

Activation during recognition of Target stimulus in V-T task was seen in Precentral Gyrus, SupraMarginal Gyrus, Inferior Parietal Lobule, Precentral Gyrus, IFG (p. Opercularis), Superior Parietal Lobule, Rolandic Operculum, posterior-medial frontal, Insula Lobe, Cerebelum (IV-V), Middle Frontal Gyrus, IFG (p. Triangularis), Middle Orbital Gyrus, Thalamus, Pallidum, Superior Frontal Gyrus, Middle Frontal Gyrus, Postcentral Gyrus, Superior Parietal Lobule, Precentral Gyrus, IFG (p. Opercularis), Superior Parietal Lobule, and the Insula Lobe. In each hemisphere of the brain the insular cortex is a portion of the cerebral cortex folded deep within the lateral sulcus.

				MNI coordinates			
Cluster[voxel]	Anatomical region	side	T value	х	Y	Z	
3523	Precentral Gyrus	left	9.93	-30	-21	63	
	SupraMarginal Gyrus	left	9.79	-51	-24	42	
	Inferior Parietal Lobule	left	8.48	-39	-30	42	
	Precentral Gyrus	left	7.44	-54	6	24	
	IFG (p. Opercularis)	left	7.05	-54	9	15	
	Superior Parietal Lobule	left	6.5	-30	-48	60	
	Rolandic Operculum	left	5.65	-42	-24	18	
	posterior-medial frontal	left	5.49	-6	3	51	
	Insula Lobe	left	5.32	-39	-6	9	
291	Cerebelum(IV-V)	right	8.38	9	-54	-21	
176	Middle Frontal Gyrus	left	4.13	-27	39	24	
	N/A	left	3.77	-33	63	21	
	IFG (p. Triangularis)	left	3.63	-36	36	15	
	Middle Orbital Gyrus	left	3.42	-42	57	-3	
159	Thalamus	left	5.69	-15	-21	6	
	Pallidum	left	3.95	-18	3	6	
155	Superior Frontal Gyrus	right	5.14	27	-9	57	
	Middle Frontal Gyrus	right	4.54	27	3	51	
147	Postcentral Gyrus	right	7.21	54	-15	33	
130	Superior Parietal Lobule	left	4.7	-18	-66	51	
109	Precentral Gyrus	right	4.73	48	3	30	
	IFG (p. Opercularis)	right	4.37	51	6	21	
76	Superior Parietal Lobule	right	3.95	18	-66	57	
23	N/A	left	4.37	-27	15	6	
	Insula Lobe	left	4.31	-30	18	3	

 Table 3.7 Main foci during recognition of TS in V-T task

Main activation during recognition of Reference stimulus in T-V task was seen in SupraMarginal Gyrus, Insula Lobe, Precentral Gyrus, IFG (p. Opercularis), Precentral Gyrus, Inferior Parietal Lobule, Postcentral Gyrus, Thalamus, Rolandic Operculum, Insula Lobe, Precentral Gyrus, IFG (p. Opercularis), Cerebelum (IV-V), posterior-medial frontal, Postcentral Gyrus, Insula Lobe and Putamen.

				MNI coordinates			
Cluster [voxel]	Anatomical region	side	T value	Х	Y	Z	
2855	SupraMarginal Gyrus	left	10.43	-51	-24	42	
	Insula Lobe	left	9.53	-36	-6	9	
	Precentral Gyrus	left	9.14	-33	-21	63	
	IFG (p. Opercularis)	left	8.88	-57	9	24	
	Precentral Gyrus	left	8.84	-54	6	27	
	Inferior Parietal Lobule	left	8.21	-39	-30	42	
	Postcentral Gyrus	left	7.78	-39	-24	54	
	Thalamus	left	7.58	-12	-21	6	
	Rolandic Operculum	left	7.12	-51	-18	15	
399	Insula Lobe	right	6.44	36	-3	9	
	Precentral Gyrus	right	5.76	48	6	30	
	IFG (p. Opercularis)	right	5.17	48	9	15	
360	Cerebelum (IV-V)	right	9.72	9	-54	-21	
347	posterior-medial frontal	left	5.56	-6	-3	54	
	MCC	right	4.98	9	15	42	
	MCC	left	4.18	-6	-24	45	
	MCC	left	3.73	-3	3	33	
289	Postcentral Gyrus	right	8.24	54	-15	33	
46	Insula Lobe	left	5.53	-30	18	6	
23	Putamen	right	3.95	30	15	3	

Table 3.8 Main foci during recognition of RS in T-V task

Main activation during recognition of Target stimulus in T-V task was seen in Fusiform Gyrus, Linual Gyrus, Linual Gyrus, Middle Occipital Gyrus, Middle Occipital Gyrus, Fusiform Gyrus, Superior Occipital Gyrus, Middle Occipital Gyrus, Linual Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus, IFG (p. Triangularis), IFG (p. Opercularis), Precentral Gyrus, Postcentral Gyrus, Precentral Gyrus, posterior-medial frontal, Precentral Gyrus, Insula Lobe, and Hippocampus.

				MNI coordinates			
Cluster[voxel]	Anatomical region	side	T value	х	Y	Z	
5871	Fusiform Gyrus	right	11.81	30	-66	-15	
	Linual Gyrus	right	11.11	15	-81	-3	
	Linual Gyrus	left	10.67	-6	-81	-3	
	Middle Occipital Gyrus	right	10.01	30	-81	15	
	Middle Occipital Gyrus	left	7.47	-18	-87	12	
	Fusiform Gyrus	left	6.91	-30	-63	-18	
	Superior Occipital Gyrus	right	6.51	27	-66	39	
	Middle Occipital Gyrus	left	5.92	-24	-63	39	
	Linual Gyrus	left	5.87	-21	-48	-9	
260	Precentral Gyrus	left	5.18	-57	12	33	
	IFG (p. Triangularis)	left	5.17	-54	21	27	
	IFG (p. Opercularis)	left	4.85	-48	9	15	
233	Precentral Gyrus	right	5.3	30	-12	54	
	Postcentral Gyrus	right	3.97	51	-18	39	
113	Precentral Gyrus	right	4.97	45	6	30	
	IFG (p. Opercularis)	right	4.39	51	9	18	
71	posterior-medial frontal	left	4.19	-6	9	51	
	MCC	right	3.85	9	15	45	
54	Precentral Gyrus	left	3.94	-36	-3	57	
46	IFG (p. Triangularis)	left	4.65	-48	42	9	
36	Insula Lobe	left	5.26	-30	18	3	
28	Hippocampus	right	4.39	21	-30	-6	

 Table 3.9 Main foci during recognition of TS in T-V task

In rodents as model organisms, the hippocampus has been studied extensively as part of a brain system responsible for spatial memory and navigation. Many neurons in the rat and mouse hippocampus respond as place cells: that is, they fire bursts of action potentials when the animal passes through a specific part of its environment. Hippocampal place cells interact extensively with head direction cells, whose activity acts as an inertial compass, and conjecturally with grid cells in the neighboring entorhinal cortex. In Alzheimer's disease (and other forms of dementia), the hippocampus is one of the first regions of the brain to suffer damage; short-term memory loss and disorientation are included among the early symptoms [47][48][49].

				MNI coordinates			
Cluster [voxel]	Anatomical region	side	T value	Х	Y	Z	
202	N/A	left	5.18	-24	-27	27	
	N/A	left	4.82	-21	-24	24	
	N/A	left	4.34	-36	-9	27	
	N/A	left	4.32	-30	-12	27	
	N/A	left	4.11	-21	-3	30	
	N/A	left	3.9	-30	-6	27	
	N/A	left	3.73	-15	-42	21	
79	N/A	right	4.2	27	-21	27	
	N/A	right	4.15	21	-12	27	
	N/A	right	4.14	27	-27	30	
	N/A	right	4.14	21	-6	33	
	N/A	right	3.74	21	3	36	
	N/A	right	3.73	24	-15	33	
	N/A	right	3.55	30	-18	33	

Table 3.10 Main foci during recognition of TS in T-V and V-V task

Main activation during recognition of V-T task target stimulus versus T-T task target stimulus was seen in Superior Medial Gyrus (Table 3.11). Main activation during V-V task target stimulus vs T-V task target stimulus was also seen in the Superior Medial Gyrus (Table 3.12)

				MNI	MNI coordinates		
Cluster [voxel]	Anatomical region	side	T value	х	Y	Z	
42	Superior Medial Gyrus	left	3.98	-12	57	21	

Table 3.11 Main foci during recognition of TS in V-T and T-T task

				MNI coordinates			
Cluster [voxel]	Anatomical region	side	T value	Х	Y	Z	
7	Superior Medial Gyrus	left	3.6	-3	60	0	

Table 3.12 Main foci during recognition of TS in V-V and T-V task

Main activation during T-T task target stimulus vs V-T task target stimulus was seen in Precentral Gyrus, Postcentral Gyrus, Inferior Parietal Lobule, Paracentral Lobule, Precentral Gyrus, Cerebellar Vermis (4/5), Linual Gyrus, and Inferior Occipital Gyrus.

				MNI coordinates			
Cluster [voxel]	Anatomical region	side	T value	Х	Y	Z	
78	N/A	right	3.96	54	-21	60	
	N/A	right	3.95	39	-27	72	
	Precentral Gyrus	right	3.85	45	-18	60	
72	Postcentral Gyrus	right	3.76	42	-39	66	
	Inferior Parietal Lobule	right	3.59	27	-45	51	
44	Paracentral Lobule	left	4.17	-6	-15	78	
	N/A	left	4.13	0	-6	78	
42	Precentral Gyrus	left	4	-24	-15	75	
31	Cerebellar Vermis (4/5)	right	3.79	6	-54	-21	
	N/A	right	3.72	3	-48	-24	
27	Linual Gyrus	left	3.93	-21	-90	-18	
23	Inferior Occipital Gyrus	right	3.82	30	-87	-9	
	N/A	right	3.77	27	-84	0	

Table 3.13 Main foci during recognition of TS in T-T and V-T task

Common area during the recognition of target stimulus was seen in left Precentral Gyrus, left IFG (p. Opercularis), right Precentral Gyrus, IFG (p. Opercularis), Inferior Parietal Lobule, Superior Parietal Lobule, and right Precentral Gyrus.

				MNI coordinates			
Cluster [voxel]	Anatomical region	side	T value	Х	Y	Z	
86	Precentral Gyrus	left	4.72	-54	9	30	
	IFG (p. Opercularis)	left	4.16	-45	6	18	
59	Precentral Gyrus	right	4.5	48	6	30	
	IFG (p. Opercularis)	right	4.18	51	9	21	
53	Inferior Parietal Lobule	left	4.27	-30	-45	42	
49	Superior Parietal Lobule	left	4.24	-21	-69	48	
21	Precentral Gyrus	right	4.31	30	-9	54	

 Table 3.14 Main foci during the recognition of target stimulus

3.5.3 Neural activation during visual and tactile input

In order to understand the consequences of cross modalities between tactile and visual, we analyzed the neural activation separately by respective modalities.



Fig 3.15 Activation during visual stimulation

Main activation during visual stimulation was seen in Primary visual Cortex (V1), Secondary visual cortex (V2), visual area V3, and the inferior frontal gyrus (IFG). In the roughness recognition of dot pattern, the temporal lobe activated in the visual experiment activates because it recognizes the visual stimulus at the site called the visual cortex, coincides with the previous studies [16][6].



Fig 3.16 Activation during tactile stimulation

Main activation during tactile stimulation was seen in Brodmann Area areas 3,1 and 2 (Primary somatosensory cortex), Area 4 (Primary motor cortex), Area 8, Area 13 (Insular cortex), area 39 (Angular gyrus), area 40 (Supramarginal gyrus), area 24 (ventral anterior cingulate cortex) and area 32 (Dorsal anterior cingulate cortex). The somatosensory cortex activated by the tactile experiment is a site that reacts when recognizing tactile stimuli, which is consistent with previous studies. [16][32].

3.5.3 Common neural activation during target stimulus cognition

Common area of activation during the second stimulation (target stimulus) was seen in Precentral Gyrus (PrG), Inferior frontal gyrus (IFG), Inferior parietal lobule (IPL), and the Superior parietal lobule (SPL). The areas commonly activated through the second stimulation are areas that reacted irrespective of the type of sensory organ and it is considered that these areas are related to cross modalities.



Fig 3.17 Common area during the recognition of target stimuli (target stimulation)

3.6 Discussion

We were interested to explore the mechanism inside tactile, visual and the interaction between them in the perception of roughness using dot pattern stimuli by designing two unimodal tasks and two bimodal tasks accompanying both modalities.

3.6.1 Effects of input by each modality

In the second chapter, we have discussed that surfaces with small particles may generate high temporal frequencies, which led the subject to perceive a smoother surface tactually. Bensmaia et al [7] also stated that the perception of surface larger than 200 μ m was encoded by the spatial and temporal properties that were dominant in the haptic perception of fine surface roughness. While in visual, the perception of visual roughness is a complex process that may generate more complex neural activations, which much depends on the direction of illumination, viewpoint, and the shadow.



Fig 3.18 Superior frontal gyrus: main area during task with visual stimulus

The perception of textures developed activations corresponded with brain domains that were previously suggested to function in haptic and visual texture perception, (the parietal operculum and insula) regions in the early visual cortex as well as the middle occipital gyrus, the collateral sulcus and the posterior fusiform and lingual gyrus [38] [39][29]. In contrast, we did not find the activation of prefrontal areas. One potential explanation for this difference is the involvement of active cognitive task in present paradigms.



Fig 3.19 Caudate nucleus: main area during task with tactile stimulus

3.6.2 Cross modal integration process

From the results, common area of activation during the second stimulation was seen in PrG, IFG, IPL, and SPL. The areas commonly activated through the second

stimulation are areas that reacted irrespective of the type of sensory organ and it is considered that these areas are related to cross modalities.

In this study, we asked the subjects to judge the roughness of their stimulation, even if they were not able to. Following the results, we can claim that the activity in the visual cortex exists during tactile perception of roughness. However, although visual imagery has been implicated in the tactile perception of some macro-geometric properties of objects, its engagement in the perception of surface is thought to be in small volume. This suggests that two properties, orientation and roughness are unconnected and are further based by specific regions in our brain.

3.7 Conclusion

In this chapter, we measured the brain activity during pattern perception using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI). Human sensations always involve in interaction, but a lot of brain's response during the interaction is still unknown.. This study was designed to discover the unresolved part of the brain during performing visual and tactile interaction roughness recognition experiments. We designed four types of tasks: visual task (VV), tactile task (TT), visual - tactile task (VT), tactile - visual task (TV). The common area of each of the brain activation during each task was analyzed; and the results showed that activations located in the frontal and parietal, suggesting these regions were actively involved in the cross-modal processing. Specific activation for the information from the tactile and visual modality was seen in the frontal and parietal lobe, respectively, suggesting the particular activation in each at this region.
Chapter 4 Effects of Temporal Frequency toward Roughness Perception by Visual Stimuli

Abstract

Previous studies proved that a spatial mechanism can only account for the processing of coarse textures. In the present study, we proposed temporal coding mechanism involves converting the fine spatial structure of grating and scramble surface into a temporal drifting and flicking pattern. This temporal mechanism complements the spatial one and greatly extends the range of tangible textures. We proposed that gratings with regular spatial structure but different temporal mechanism have different influence toward roughness perception. However, great individual differences of roughness perception by grating stimuli take us to create scramble stimuli to do the same experiment. Results showed that a combination of spatial and temporal mechanisms accounts for perceptual judgments of roughness, however with some limitation from the stimulus pattern.

4.1 Introduction

Texture information is widely believed to be conveyed in spatial patterns of activation evoked across one of three populations of cutaneous mechanoreceptive afferents that innervate the fingertips. To understand the perceptual processes involved in perceiving texture by touch, typical approach relies on determining the relationship between a physical factor in the environment and a quantifiable measure of the perception of that factor as texture. Mainly, the studies were centered in roughness domain [50][51][52][53][54][55][56][57].

A carefully controlled analysis of the relationship between physical stimuli and roughness was conducted by Lederman [54]. Perceived roughness was directly related to the spatial deformation of the fingertip's skin by the textured grooves [58][59]. Temporal coding is also disconfirmed by the finding that selective adaptation of receptors to vibration results in little change in perceived roughness.

Roughness is a surface property that can be used to describe materials or to discriminate them, and it can be critical in the classification of materials. One can readily discriminate the different grits both visually and haptically. For our purposes, roughness is an aggregate or statistical measure of the shape, size, and distribution of elements on a surface. It may be classified haptically or visually [60][61]. Parameters that affect haptic roughness include inter element spacing and grating groove width [54].

Haptic perception of roughness textures is evidently affected by changes by spatial mechanism conditions [16][46] and , if visual perception of the roughness of 3D textures were well calibrated to haptic perception of the same textures, we might expect roughness dependability across changes in the temporal mechanisms of visual textures. The main objective of the present study was to explore how temporal mechanism influences the roughness perception of subjects. In the present study, we used computer-assembled gratings and scrambles images to define temporal characteristics of visual roughness. Here, we investigate the effects of changes in those gratings and scrambles parameters to subjects' roughness perception.

In the first experiment, we investigated the effects of time frequency towards roughness perception by visual drifted grating stimuli. We could understand that gratings do have several limitations for roughness perception to human visual. In the second experiment, we changed our stimulation to scramble that originated from the gratings.

4.2 Effects of temporal frequency towards roughness perception by visual drifted grating stimuli

4.2.1 Subjects

Ten subjects (9 males, 1 female; ages 20–28 years old) provided informed consent and participated in this study. Subjects sat with the left and right arm resting on a support on the desk. Stimuli were presented in a dark room.. All procedures were approved by Okayama University.

4.2.2 Stimuli

The experimental stimuli was written in the numerical computing programming language MATLAB R2015b (The Mathworks, Inc.) with interfaces of Psychophysics Toolbox Version 3 (PTB-3).

The parameters of the grating including pixels per cycle, spatial frequency, and visible size were calculated and one single static grating image was generated. The actual sine grating and drift speed (in cycles per second) were then computed and the amount of pixels to be shifted is specified to perform a perception of movement.

In this study, we used 7 types of drift speed as target stimuli; which has been tested in pilot experiment, which are 0.1, 0.5, 2, 4, 6, 10, and 20 cycles per second. Three of them (2, 4, 6 cycles/second) were used as standard stimuli for the subjects' reference during each trial. All seven speeds were used as target stimuli, pairing with those three speeds of reference. Thus, reference stimuli and target stimuli with same speed were also involved. Subjects assessed the same pair of reference and target ten times, totaling of 210 trials per subject.

4.2.3 Procedures

Experiment 1 was divided into two tasks; "speed cognition task" and "roughness cognition task". In the speed cognition, subjects performed a two-alternative forced choice (2-AFC) task which they need to response which grating stimuli is "faster" between two presented on the left and right at the screen. In the roughness cognition, subjects performed a two-alternative forced choice (2-AFC) task which they need to response which grating stimuli is "rougher" between two presented on the left and right at the screen. In the roughness cognition task the screen. Direction of comparison (left) and target stimulus (right) were always 90 degrees different to prevent adaptation by subjects. Reaction time was calculated between the start of gratings presentation and subject response and no time limit was appointed. Between trial stimulation, subjects viewed two crosses fixation to prevent any kind of afterimage.



Fig 4.1.: Design of grating stimulation set that was presented to subjects in Experiment 1.

Experiments were carried out in a room with no light and sound. Before the experiment, subjects needed to sit inside the room and were asked to rest without any special instruction. The process is called "eye adaptation", a significant procedure in visual physiology. It is well accepted as the ability of the eye to adjust to various levels of darkness and light [62][63]. Since all subjects were younger than 30 years old and the dark adaptation is performed better by young people [64], subjects needed to accomplish only ten minutes of dark adaptation first.



Fig 4.2.: Trial sequence of Experiment 1.

Subjects then practiced three minutes of light adaptation. During this process, subjects were presented a blank screen with the color of gray background and they were asked to look at the screen and get used to the color. In the light adaptation, the eye has to immediately adapt to the background color of screen [65]. The experiment will start thirteen minutes after the subjects entered the room (10 minutes of dark adaptation + 3 minutes of light adaptation). Dark adaptation, light adaptation, and the actual experiment were all controlled by computing programming MATLAB to avoid difference between subjects.



Fig 4.3.: Subjects condition during Experiment 1 and 2

Inside the experiment room, subject will sit on a chair with their right hand placed on computer numeric keyboard for task's response. The keyboard size was 15mm long and 8mm width; fitting subject's finger. A chin rest was provided fixed to the table for two main reasons. First, to prevent subject's fatigue during the experiment and secondly for limiting subject's eye distance to be approximately 2.5 meters from the computer display. Experimenter was always outside the room to control the computing programming and to be on guard for subjects from sleeping during adaptation or experiment. Experimenter's voice can always be heard from inside the room.

Subjects will feedback all their response by the computer numeric keyboard with only three buttons horizontally arranged. In the speed cognition, subjects need to judge whether target stimulus on the right was "faster" than reference stimulus on the left side. During task description before the experiment start, subjects were asked to press right button if stimulus on the right side was faster or left button for the opposite. In case subjects could not decide which stimulus was faster between those two, they were asked to press the third button which was placed at the middle. In the roughness cognition, subjects needed to select stimulus which was "rougher" between two presented on the left and right at the screen. Similar with speed cognition task, subjects were asked to press left button if stimulus on the left side was rougher, right button if stimulus on the right side was rougher and middle button if they could not conclude any of them.

4.3 Effects of temporal frequency towards roughness perception by visual flicked scramble stimuli

4.3.1 Subjects

Ten right-handed, healthy volunteers (6 males, 1 female; ages 20–28 years old) participated in this experiment. All subjects had no remarkable injuries to the hands or fingers, normal visions, and given written informed consent for participation. The local medical ethics committee of Okayama University approved the protocol.

4.3.2 Scramble stimuli

Originated from the grating stimuli in experiment 1, we specified a division pitch width p and randomly arranged the particles divided using exclusive program of MATLAB and Psychophysics Toolbox. The parameters of the grating including pixels per cycle, spatial frequency, and visible size were calculated and one single static grating image was generated. The actual sine grating and drift speed (in cycles per second) were then computed and the amount of pixels to be shifted is specified to perform a perception of movement.

For the second experiment, we controlled the flick frequency of the scramble stimuli to demonstrate roughness perception to the subjects. After several pilot tests, six type of frequencies were used in this experiments which is 1, 2, 4, 8, 16, and 32 (Hz, per second)



Fig 4.4. (a) Design of the scramble stimuli. We randomly arranged the divided particles of grating stimuli from Experiment 1 by specified pitch width *p* and recombined to original size to construct the new scramble stimuli (b) Trial sequence of Experiment 2

4.3.3 Procedures

Identically to those in experiment 1, we used a two-alternative forced choice (2AFC) procedure in which the subjects were presented two scramble textures simultaneously. In a pre-experiment, we carried out a speed cognition task (identical to Experiment 1) by controlling the frequencies of scramble stimuli. The results were identical to those in Experiment 1 for all subjects and we extend Experiment 2 for only roughness condition task. Comparisons between each of three standard stimuli and each of six target stimuli were carried out for 10 times in one set. Subjects completed two sets of experiment in two different days, with at least 5 days between each set to exclude subject's perception of gratings and reset subjects' dedication toward the experiment. Stimuli's contrast, spatial frequency, specified division pitch width p, and brightness of backgrounds were held constant throughout the experiment.

4.4 Results

The results and discussions were divided into three parts. The first part is the result of the first experiment using the grating stimuli. Second part is the result of the second experiment which used scramble stimuli. To discuss the applicability of the second part, we carried out a magnitude estimation experiment (ME). The result of ME is in the third part.

4.4.1 Grating

We collected subject's response and only examined the "rougher" response by subjects. The third response (if the subjects could not decide which stimulus was faster/ rougher) were divided and inserted equally into another two responses. Results were plotted as the distribution of "faster" or "rougher" response when subjects perceived the target stimuli and compared with the reference. Figure 4.5 is the individual result of 10 subjects during speed cognition of Experiment 1.



Fig 4.5 Results of 10 subjects for speed response.

In Fig 4.5 afterwards, three vertical lines are the three reference stimulus speed (2, 4, and 6 cycle/s). In speed cognition task, all subjects have the same trend. They accurately perceived the speed of target stimulus; "faster" responses increased when the

drifted speed of target stimulus increased. This result was expected and showed that subjects did not having any difficulties to percept and recognize each of grating stimuli.



Fig 4.6 Mean of 10 subjects for speed response.

Mean of 10 subjects for "faster" response in speed cognition task are shown in Figure 4.6. Error bar represents the standard deviation. The chance level for "faster" response was 33.33%, since there were three types of response. Proportion during the same drift speed between reference and target showed that subjects were around the chance level in 4 and 6 cycle/deg, but less in 2 cycle/deg. The proportion of "faster" response of target stimulus 20 cycle/deg was almost 100% for each comparison to reference stimuli and proportion of "faster" response of target stimulus 0.1 cycle/deg was almost 0.



Fig 4. 7 Results of roughness response. Roughness percentage of target stimulus was plotted for each reference stimulus speed.

In roughness cognition task, inconsistent results between ten subjects were earned. Individual results of 10 subjects for "rougher" response in roughness cognition task are shown in Figure 4.7. Error bar represents the standard deviation. The chance level for "rougher" response was 33.33%. From the figure, numerous possibilities can be seen for roughness perception of grating stimuli. Therefore, we divided the result into three types, according to their cognitive characteristics.



Fig 4. 8 Results of roughness response. Roughness percentage of target stimulus was plotted for each reference stimulus speed. Generally, results can be divided in three types of roughness responses. In (a), subject tends to feel rougher when target stimulus was faster, but dropped slightly after 10 cycle/s. In (b), subjects primarily felt smoother when target stimulus is faster. In (c), constant roughness were detected as the drift speed of target stimulus increased

Individual results were divided and "rougher" response in roughness cognition task is shown in Figure 4.8. The results of roughness cognition task can be divided into three groups. In group (a), subject tends to feel rougher when target stimulus was faster, but dropped slightly after 10 cycle/s. Proportion during the same drift speed between reference and target showed that subjects were around the chance level in 4 and 6 cycle/deg, but less in 2 cycle/deg. The proportion of "rougher" response of target stimulus 20 cycle/deg was slightly dropped for each comparison to reference stimuli and proportion of "rougher" response of target stimulus 0.1 cycle/degree was near to 0.

The fact that subject's maximum roughness proportion was during target stimulus 10 cycle/degree was rather interesting, suggesting drift speed around 20 cycle/degree contribute to weaken roughness properties of visual textures.

In group (b), subjects primarily felt smoother when target stimulus is faster. Proportion during the same drift speed between reference and target showed that subjects were high above the chance level in 4 and 6 cycle/deg. The proportion of "rougher" response of target stimulus 20 cycle/degree was almost 10% for each comparison to reference stimuli and proportion of "faster" response of target stimulus 0.1 cycle/deg was almost 100%. The results were relative with group (a), logically proposing same tendency of fast speed of drift stimuli. However, no slight increase of "rougher" proportion between 10 and 20 cycle/degree. In group (c), constant "rougher" proportion was detected as the drift speed of target stimulus increased. The proportion was around 40 to 60 % which was above the chance level. Accordingly, subjects can sense the "roughness" inside the grating stimulation, but could not discriminate the difference of roughness in different speed.



Fig 4.9 Proportion of 'rougher' response of a subject through five attempts of roughness cognition task

Interestingly, certain subjects were also not consistent for the duration of five attempts of roughness cognition task. As an example Figure 4.9 showed the results of subject 6 through each attempt from first to fifth week. Subject 6 participated the experiment from the first week and performed the experiment in every week for 5 weeks. At the first attempt, subject's proportion of "rougher" response increased when

the drift speed of target stimulus increased. However, the range of minimum and maximum value of the proportion was decreased since the third attempt. From the fourth attempt, the increase pattern of the graph cannot be seen any longer.



Fig 4.10 Proportion of 'rougher' response of a subject (Subject 8) for experiment 1. During the second set of the experiment (solid line), subject conformed type (b) of the roughness result in Fig 4. Three weeks later, the opposite results take place.

Subject 6 were also participated the experiment from the first week and performed the experiment in every week for 5 weeks. During the second attempt of the experiment), subject 6 conformed type (b) of the result in Figure 4.8. Three weeks later on the fifth attempt, the opposite result appeared.

In the roughness cognition task, we carefully controlled the experimental parameter and environment to be consistent in every task and every subject over the five attempts. It is unreasonable to conclude that the parameters influence the inconsistency among subjects. The fact that subject did not response consistently throughout five weeks may suggest that spatial mechanism in grating stimuli carried less consequence for roughness perception in visual task.

4.4.2 Scramble stimuli

Similar with Experiment 1, in Experiment 2, we collected subject's response and only examined the "rougher" response by subjects. The third response (if the subjects

could not decide which stimulus was rougher) were divided and inserted equally into another two responses. Results were plotted as the distribution of "rougher" response when subjects perceived the target stimuli and compared with the reference. Figure 4.11 is the average of 10 subjects during roughness cognition task of Experiment 2.



Fig 4.11 An average result of 10 subjects for roughness percentage of target stimulus was plotted for each reference stimulus flick frequency (Hz) for (a) first attempt and (b) second attempt.

An average result of 10 subjects for roughness percentage of target stimulus was plotted for each reference stimulus flick frequency (Hz). Comparing to Experiment 1, all subjects were more consistent in perceiving roughness of scramble stimuli. Subjects tend to feel rough when the flick frequency is higher, topping at 8 to 16 Hz. Afterwards, inclination of the graph start to drop during target stimulus was 32 Hz. In a pre-experiment (a), we executed the 64 Hz of target stimuli into the experiment. However, the percentage of "rougher" response was completely 0% in all subjects. This can be understood because of several physical factors limit the highest spatial frequencies that can be perceived by the human eye [66]. Therefore, the results for 64Hz were excluded in this study.

In Figure 4.11 (a), subject's maximum rough proportion was during 8 Hz but 16 Hz in (b) but the difference was not significant. The chance level for "rougher" response was same as Experiment 1 which is 33.33%, since there were three types of response. Proportion during the same frequency between reference and target which were

presented to subjects showed that subjects were around 30 to 50%. No target stimulus had the proportion reaching 100% or 0% for each comparison to reference stimuli. This clearly suggest that subjects properly perceived the scramble stimulation and looking for the undisclosed roughness components under the irregular spatial pattern.

We were interested on the minor difference between maximum proportions of two attempts in Figure 4.11. Even though there were no significant difference between the two maximum value, the transition may suggesting the optimum temporal frequency of irregular scramble stimuli that human can perceive to feel it "rough" sufficiently.

Therefore, we designed a magnitude estimation task for the same subjects in Experiment 2. Six types of target stimulus frequency in Experiment 2 were used and presented randomly to subjects. Only one reference stimulus was presented in each trial, placed at the same visual degree in Experiment 2. Size of the stimulus was also the same as those in Experiment 2. Subjects were asked to see each target stimulus and mention any number that represents the roughness of the stimuli. They were unrestrained to say any number but they were instructed to demonstrate small number for "smooth" stimuli and bigger number for "rougher" stimuli, with the roughness of reference stimuli were given as a "10". Apart from that, the experimental procedure and environment was carried out as similar as Experiment 2.



Fig 4.12 Results of roughness perception by magnitude estimation.

The magnitude estimation result is summarized in Figure 4.12. No subjects responded more than 100 or less than 0 during the estimation task. Y axis is how rough the subjects perceive compared to the reference stimuli (4 Hz). The result is obviously shown the ability of subjects to declare the roughness of each target scramble stimuli when comparing with the reference. Generally, the roughness estimation was increased as the frequency of the scramble was increasing. Except for Subject 7, each subject showed similar tendencies of roughness perception to target flick frequency. However, bigger frequency such as 16 or 32 Hz had a bigger deviation compared to smaller frequencies. More subjects for the estimation task may be needed to confirm this account.

Contrast were also one of the main factors of roughness perception [67][68][69][70]. We also controlled the contrast of scramble stimulation as one of the parameter in a new task. Visual texture provides valuable information and events in the environment, and can be described along different perceptual dimensions such as roughness, contrast and glossiness [68][71]. If there any turnaround of roughness response in subjects when we change the stimulus contrast, previous results might be invalid and the irregularity of spatial factors in scramble might not be the case in visual roughness perception.

Three different contrasts of each stimulus were created. We defined stimuli's contrast in this study as the different between the highest and lowest point in numeric presentations of RGB color model (black and white). In Experiment 1 and 2, only contrast 1.0 were used, which means RGB triplet of (0.0, 0.0, 0.0) and (255, 255, 255) were applied to grating and scramble stimuli. The contrast of the background was always remaining the same. In the next contrast-control task, we added another two contrasts which was 0.5 and 0.125, half and quarter value of original stimuli.



Fig 4.13. An average result of 7 subjects for roughness percentage of target stimulus was plotted for each reference stimulus flick frequency (Hz) in three different contrasts.

Similar task with Experiment 1 and Experiment 2 were carried out using another two types of contrast, but not in the same experiment. Every contrast-control task was done in different days with different value of contrast in the same seven subjects. Experimental procedure and environment were same as those in Experiment 2 with only the contrast were changed. The orders of the three contrasts were randomized between subjects to avoid any kind of habituation. The task was carried out approximately one month after Experiment 2.

The result of contrast-control task is summarized in Figure 4.13. In all cases, the tendency of roughness proportion was all the same as Experiment 2 in every condition of contrast value.

4.5 Discussion

By designing two experiments accompanying both stimuli with and without spatial regularity, we expected to understand more about temporal roughness in visual textures. The results and discussions were divided into three parts.

4.5.1 Temporal roughness factor in grating and scramble

The visual texture studies mainly focus on the ability of the observer to effortlessly discriminate pairs of texture regions. As such, the distribution of properties, such as brightness, color, size, contour, slope, and contour termination were found to affect textural segmentation. In this study, we controlled all possible properties for subjects to discriminate stimulation roughness by their temporal factor.

The maximum frequency value for temporal roughness is around 16 to 32 Hz. There were limited studies on visual temporal roughness, but most literatures of haptic temporal roughness proved an optimum value for subjects to feel the surface as a vibration. Together, these results indicate that vibrotaction plays an important role in the visual perception of fine textures. However texture-elicited vibrations can be perceived in terms of either their temporal or intensive properties. Roughness can be determined temporally, as a function of the frequency of the texture-induced vibrations elicited on the skin during haptic, or roughness can be determined by the intensity of these vibrations visually.

4.5.2 Irregularity of spatial factor in temporal roughness

The perceptual representation of the spatial information present in irregular textures, such as those found in the real world, have often been examined using scatterdot displays. These enable the investigation of the perception of spatial texture attributes in isolation from other properties of surfaces such as luminance, colour and spatial frequency. Visually, the texture density is a simple way of describing a textured area and is thus an important cue for surface isolation. By using visual grating, we suggested that the visual system represents texture roughness is unconnected than of density. Regular pattern in grating may cause subjects to percept less temporal roughness when the stimulation moved. By using visual scramble, we suggested that the temporal visual roughness system is highly associated with haptic vibrotaction rather than of density. The irregular spacing in scramble stimuli suggesting the significance of spatial coding, which also suggesting consecutive connection between visual and haptic during temporal roughness perception.

4.6 Conclusion

In this chapter, we designed a visual base stimulation to investigate the temporal factors of roughness perception. Visual stimulation with regularity and irregularity of spatial spacing were used in this study. In the present study, we used computerassembled gratings and scrambles images to define time characteristics of visual roughness. The parameters of the grating including pixels per cycle, spatial frequency, and visible size were calculated and one single static grating image was generated. The actual sine grating and drift speed (in cycles per second) were then computed and the amount of pixels to be shifted is specified to perform a perception of movement. We then investigated the effects of changes in those gratings and scrambles parameters to subjects' roughness perception. In the first experiment, we investigated the effects of temporal frequency towards roughness perception by visual drifted grating stimuli. We could understand that gratings do have several limitations for roughness perception to human visual. In the second experiment, we changed our stimulation to scramble stimulation which originated from the grating stimuli. In order to examine the results of the second experiment, we carried out a magnitude estimation experiment on each of the difference temporal frequency of scramble stimuli. The results showed a more converged results during the perception of irregular spacing in scramble stimuli, suggesting the significance of spatial coding. However, we also found the evidence of how visual temporal factors influence the perception of roughness.

Chapter 5 Summary

To differentiate a surface texture, human apply both visual and haptic information for the perception. We are focusing in roughness, one of significant domain in the perception of textures. In addition, we generally recognize object's texture by using multisensory inputs, combining both modalities to produce final judgement into understanding the texture. During the processes, how do those different modalities affects each other? Are they integrated or disconnect inside our brain? Cognition of surface roughness at the same time in the two senses (tactile and visual) is still undeclared, and how both effects on each other could be intriguing. Moreover, human sensations during roughness perception always involve in interaction, but a lot of brain's response during the interaction is still unknown. Additionally, the perception of roughness has been studied primarily in the haptic domain. Plenty of psychological studies investigating tactile texture perception have been conducted using artificial stimuli such as dot surfaces, grating patterns or abrasive papers. In addition, a lot of research has been devoted to tactile roughness, in particular with respect to the role of vibration cues and to the neural mechanisms. Visual roughness is likely a factor that contributes to the perception of visual gloss, mainly focusing on spatial factors This raises the question on how the temporal factors affect the roughness perception. Does the spatial factors are more significance than temporal? How do we code the temporal code in visual roughness? Present thesis was divided into three studies to test these hypotheses.

1. The main objective of the first study was to explore how the two modalities influence each other during roughness perception of fine surface. Perception of textures can be divided into two; fine (spatial features smaller than 200 μ m) and coarse textures. We designed two unimodal tasks and four bimodal tasks within both modalities using six different fine surfaces and six different grayscale photos. In unimodal visual task (V-V), subjects were asked to judge rougher visual stimuli between two stimuli that were presented in sequential order. In bimodal visual task, (V-

Vt), subjects needed to do the same visual roughness judgement while perceiving an interference tactile stimulus at the second order of the presented stimuli. We expected to measure the influence of each modality by considering how subjects were interrupted by the emergence of the tactile interference stimulus. Furthermore, bimodal visual task are divided into two tasks, which applied rough tactile interference stimulus (V-Vt-rough) and smooth one (V-Vt-smooth). Unimodal and bimodal tactile task (T-T, T-Tv-rough, and T-Tv-smooth) were the opposite, which subjects need to do tactile rough-ness judgement. We propose that the roughness of the interference stimulus from different modality may affects subjects judgment and different between the two types. We found that tactile sensory was dominant in the perception of roughness by fine surface. During cross modalities, visual information has almost no effects toward tactile sensory, but in the other hand tactile information had significance effects onto visual sensory. Furthermore, we found that stimuli with smaller particles bring more interference into subject's perception compared to bigger particles in fine surface. We suggest that particles sizes are as significant as the modalities in visual, tactile, or multisensory integration of both, in roughness perception of fine surface.

2. In the second study, we measured brain activity during pattern perception using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI). Human sensations always involve in interaction, but a lot of brain's response during the interaction is still unknown. This study was designed to discover the unresolved part of the brain during performing visual and tactile interaction roughness recognition experiments. We designed four types of tasks: visual task (VV), tactile task (TT), visual - tactile task (VT), tactile - visual task (TV). The common area of each of the brain activation during each task was analyzed; and the results showed that activations located in the frontal and parietal, suggesting these regions were actively involved in the cross-modal processing. Specific activation for the information from the tactile and visual modality was seen in the frontal and parietal lobe, respectively, suggesting the particular activation in each at this region.

3. In the third study, we designed a visual base stimulation to investigate the temporal factors of roughness perception. Visual stimulation with regularity and irregularity of spatial spacing were used in this study. In the present study, we used computer-assembled gratings and scrambles images to define time characteristics of visual roughness. The parameters of the grating including pixels per cycle, spatial frequency, and visible size were calculated and one single static grating image was generated. The actual sine grating and drift speed (in cycles per second) were then computed and the amount of pixels to be shifted is specified to perform a perception of movement. We then investigated the effects of changes in those gratings and scrambles parameters to subjects' roughness perception. In the first experiment, we investigated the effects of temporal frequency towards roughness perception by visual drifted grating stimuli. We could understand that gratings do have several limitations for roughness perception to human visual. In the second experiment, we changed our stimulation to scramble stimulation which originated from the grating stimuli. In order to examine the results of the second experiment, we carried out a magnitude estimation experiment on each of the difference temporal frequency of scramble stimuli. The results showed a more converged results during the perception of irregular spacing in scramble stimuli, suggesting the significance of spatial coding. However, we also found the evidence of how visual temporal factors influence the perception of roughness.

The results of the three studies showed that the spatial and temporal factors modulate the visuo-tactile roughness processing differently, but partially overlapping between the modalities and factors. The present thesis investigated the mechanism of roughness perception in visual and tactile. Future tasks for present thesis include approaching spatial and temporal factors in each of both modalities and also in crossmodalities perception to understand more of multisensory integration by behavioral and fMRI methods.

Publications

- Bigger influence by smaller particles in tactile-visual cross-modal roughness perception of fine surface <u>Mohd Usairy Syafiq</u>, Jiajia Yang, Yinghua Yu, Jinglong Wu Neuroscience and Biomedical Engineering, In Press (2017).
- Development of a tactile angle stimuli presentation device for tactile cognitive function discrimination
 <u>Mohd Usairv Syafiq</u>, Yinghua Yu, Jiajia Yang, Jinglong Wu
 Proceedings of 2013 IEEE International Conference on Mechatronics and
 Automation (ICMA 2013), pp.116-121(2013).
- Development and evaluation of a tactile cognitive function test device for Alzheimer's Disease early detection Jiajia Yang, <u>Mohd Usairy Syafiq</u>, Yinghua Yu, Satoshi Takahashi, Zhenxin Zhang, and Jinglong Wu Neuroscience and Biomedical Engineering, Vol. 3, No. 2, pp. 58-65 (2015).
- Human characteristics of tactile-visual cross-modal on roughness perception <u>Mohd Usairy Syafiq</u>, Jiajia Yang, Yinghua Yu, Hiroki Matsumoto, Satoshi Takahashi, Jinglong Wu IEEE/WIC/ACM Web Intelligence Conference 2015, International Workshop on Complex Methods for Data and Web Mining (CMDWM), pp. 1-4 (2015).
- 5. 臨床用の触覚角度弁別装置の開発および認知症早期発見への応用 <u>Mohd Usairy Syafiq</u>, 干 英花,楊 家家,阿部 康二,呉 景龍 第3回日本血管性認知障害研究会 (VAS-COG Japan 2012) 東京, 2012-9.
- Applicability in screening tests for cognitive impairment and consideration towards decreases in tactile discrimination
 <u>Mohd Usairy Syafiq</u>, Jiajia Yang, Jinglong Wu
 2015 ICME International Conference on Complex Medical Engineering (CME
 2015), OS12-3, p. 62, (Okayama, 2015-6).

References

- Hollins M, Faldowski R, Rao S, Young F. Perceptual dimensions of tactile surface texture: a multidimensional scaling analysis. Percept Psychophys. 1993;54(6):697–705.
- [2] Hollins M, Risner SR. Evidence for the duplex theory of tactile texture perception. Percept Psychophys. 2000;62(4):695–705.
- [3] Katz D. Chapter 1: Studies on surface touch, Section 18 28. In: The world of touch Translation by LE Krueger, Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates (Original work published 1925). 1989.
- [4] Bensmaia SJ, Hollins M. The vibrations of texture. Somat Mot Res. 2003;20(1):33–43.
- [5] Weber AI, Saal HP, Lieber JD, et al. Spatial and temporal codes mediate the tactile perception of natural textures. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(42):17107–12.
- [6] Whitaker TA, Simões-Franklin C, Newell FN. Vision and touch: Independent or integrated systems for the perception of texture? Brain Res. 2008;1242:59–72.
- [7] Bensmaïa S, Hollins M. Pacinian representations of fine surface texture. Percept Psychophys. 2005;67(5):842–54.
- [8] Qi L, Chantler MJ, Siebert JP, Dong J. The joint effect of mesoscale and microscale roughness on perceived gloss. Vision Res. 2015;115:209–17.
- [9] Ho Y-X, Landy MS, Maloney LT. How direction of illumination affects visually perceived surface roughness. J Vis. 2006;6(2006):634–48.
- [10] Guzman Martinez E, Ortega L, Grabowecky M, Mossbridge J, Suzuki S. Interactive coding of visual spatial frequency and auditory amplitude-modulation rate. Curr Biol. 2012;22(5):383–8.
- [11] Yang J, Ogasa T, Ohta Y, Abe K, Wu J. Decline of human tactile angle discrimination in patients with mild cognitive impairment and alzheimer 's disease. J Alzheimer's Dis. 2010;22(1):225–34.
- [12] Voisin J, Benoit G, Chapman CE. Haptic discrimination of object shape in humans: two-dimensional angle discrimination. Exp Brain Res. 2002;145(2):239–50.
- [13] Voisin J, Lamarre Y, Chapman CE. Haptic discrimination of object shape in humans: contribution of cutaneous and proprioceptive inputs. Exp Brain Res. 2002;145(2):251–60.
- [14] Callier T, Saal HP, Davis-Berg EC, Bensmaia SJ. Kinematics of unconstrained tactile texture exploration. J Neurophysiol. 2015;113:3013–20.

- [15] Delhaye B, Hayward V, Lefèvre P, Thonnard J-L. Texture-induced vibrations in the forearm during tactile exploration. Front Behav Neurosci. 2012;6(37).
- [16] Eck J, Kaas AL, Goebel R. Crossmodal interactions of haptic and visual texture information in early sensory cortex. Neuroimage. 2013;75:123–35.
- [17] Ho Y-X, Maloney LT, Landy MS. The effect of viewpoint on perceived visual roughness. J Vis. 2007;7(1):1.
- [18] Iaquinta J, Lukianomicz C. Inferring texture from shadows. Meas Sci Rev. 2006;6(3):4.
- [19] Marr D. Early Processing of Visual Information. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B. 1976. p. 483–519.
- [20] Klatzky RL, Lederman S, Reed C. There's more to touch than meets the eye: The salience of object attributes for haptics with and without vision. J Exp Psychol Gen. 1987;116(4):356–69.
- [21] Guest S, Spence C. What role does multisensory integration play in the visuotactile perception texture? Int J Psychophysiol. 2003;50:63–80.
- [22] Fikes TG, Klatzky RL, Lederman SJ. Effects of object texture on precontact movement time in human prehension. J Mot Behav. 1994;26(4):325–32.
- [23] Lederman SJ, Abbott SG. Texture perception: Studies of intersensory organization using a discrepancy paradigm, and visual versus tactual psychophysics. J Exp Psychol Hum Percept Perform. 1981;7(4):902–15.
- [24] Picard D. Partial perceptual equivalence between vision and touch for texture information. Acta Psychol (Amst). 2006;121:227–48.
- [25] Cant JS, Goodale MA. Attention to form or surface properties modulates different regions of human occipitotemporal cortex. Cereb Cortex. 2007;17(3):713–31.
- [26] Cavina-Pratesi C, Kentridge RW, Heywood CA, Milner AD. Separate Processing of Texture and Form in the Ventral Stream : Evidence from fMRI and Visual Agnosia. Cereb Cortex. 2010;20:433–46.
- [27] Kaas AL, Mier H Van, Visser M, Goebel R. The Neural Substrate for Working Memory of Tactile Surface Texture. Hum Brain Mapp. 2013;34:1148–62.
- [28] Peuskens H, Claeys KG, Todd JT, et al. Attention to 3-D Shape, 3-D Motion, and Texture in 3-D Structure from Motion Displays. J Cogn Neurosci. 2001;16(4):665–82.
- [29] Sathian K, Lacey S, Stilla R, et al. Dual pathways for haptic and visual perception of spatial and texture information. Neuroimage. Elsevier Inc.; 2011;57:462–75.

- [30] Merabet L, Thut G, Murray B, et al. Feeling by sight or seeing by Touch? Neuron. 2004;42:173–9.
- [31] Zhang M, Mariola E, Stilla R, et al. Tactile Discrimination of Grating Orientation : fMRI Activation Patterns. Hum Brain Mapp. 2005;25:370–7.
- [32] Kitada R, Kito T, Saito DN, et al. Multisensory activation of the intraparietal area when classifying grating orientation: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. J Neurosci. 2006;26(28):7491–501.
- [33] Burton H, Sinclair RJ, Wingert JR, Dierker DL. Multiple parietal operculum subdivisions in humans: tactile activation maps. Somat Mot Res. 2008;25(3):149–62.
- [34] Kitada R, Hashimoto T, Kochiyama T, et al. Tactile estimation of the roughness of gratings yields a graded response in the human brain : an fMRI study. Neuroimage. 2005;25:90–100.
- [35] Roland PE, O'Sullivan B, Kawashima R. Shape and roughness activate different somatosensory areas in the human brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95:3295–300.
- [36] Simoes-Franklin C, Whitaker TA, Newell FN. Active and Passive Touch Differentially Activate Somatosensory Cortex in Texture Perception. Hum Brain Mapp. 2011;1067–80.
- [37] Stilla R, Sathian K. Selective visuo-haptic processing of shape and texture. Hum Brain Mapp. 2008;29(10):1123–38.
- [38] Cant JS, Goodale MA. Scratching Beneath the Surface : New Insights into the Functional Properties of the Lateral Occipital Area and Parahippocampal Place Area. J Neurosci. 2011;31(22):8248–58.
- [39] Cant JS, Xu Y. Object Ensemble Processing in Human Anterior-Medial Ventral Visual Cortex. J Neurosci. 2012;32(22):7685–700.
- [40] Cavina-Pratesi C, Kentridge RW, Heywood CA, Milner AD. Separate Channels for Processing Form, Texture, and Color: Evidence from fMRI Adaptation and Visual Object Agnosia. Cereb Cortex. 2010;20:2319–32.
- [41] Hiramatsu C, Goda N, Komatsu H. Transformation from image-based to perceptual representation of materials along the human ventral visual pathway. Neuroimage. Elsevier Inc.; 2011;57(2):482–94.
- [42] Merabet LB, Swisher JD, Mcmains SA, et al. Combined Activation and Deactivation of Visual Cortex During Tactile Sensory Processing Combined Activation and Deactivation of Visual Cortex During Tactile Sensory Processing. J Neurophysiol. 2007;97(2):1633–41.
- [43] Lunghi C, Binda P, Morrone MC. Touch disambiguates rivalrous perception at early stages of visual analysis. Curr Biol. 20(4):R143–4.

- [44] Dionne JK, Meehan SK, Legon W, Staines WR. Crossmodal Influences in Somatosensory Cortex : Interaction of Vision and Touch. Hum Brain Mapp. 2010;31:14–25.
- [45] Connor CE, Hsiao SS, Phillips JR, Johnson KO. Tactile Roughness : Neural Codes That Account Magnitude Estimates for Psychophysical. J Neurosci. 1990;10(12):3823–36.
- [46] Depeault A, Meftah E-M, Chapman CE. Tactile perception of roughness : raiseddot spacing , density and disposition. Exp Brain Res. 2009;197:235–44.
- [47] Backman L, Small BJ. Cognitive deficits in preclinical alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia: patterns of findings from the kungsholmen project. Physiol Behav. 2007;
- [48] Carrillo MC, Blackwell A, Hampel H, et al. Early risk assessment for alzheimer 's disease. Alzheimer's Dement. Elsevier Ltd; 2009;5(2):182–96.
- [49] Simmons BB, Hartmann B, Dejoseph PD, Commonwealth T, College M. Evaluation of suspected dementia. Am Fam Physician. 2011;84(8):895–902.
- [50] Cascio CJ, Sathian K. Temporal Cues Contribute to Tactile Perception of Roughness. J Neurosci. 2001;21(14):5289–96.
- [51] Connor E. Neural Coding of Tactile Texture : Comparison of Spatial Temporal Mechanisms for Roughness Perception. J Neurosci. 1992;12(September):3414– 26.
- [52] Kornbrot D, Penn P, Petrie H, Furner S, Hardwick A. Roughness perception in haptic virtual reality for sighted and blind people. Percept Psychophys. 2007;69(4):502–12.
- [53] Lawrence MA, Kitada R, Klatzky RL, Ledermanô SJ. Haptic roughness perception of linear gratings via bare finger or rigid probe. Perception. 2007;36:547–58.
- [54] Lederman SJ. Tactile roughness of grooved surface: The touching process and effects of macro- and microsurface structure. Percept Psychophys. 1974;16(2):385–95.
- [55] Mcgee MR, Gray P, Brewster S. Haptic Perception of Virtual Roughness.
- [56] Mehdi E, Lo M, Elaine BC. Relative effects of the spatial and temporal characteristics of scanned surfaces on human perception of tactile roughness using passive touch. 2000;351–61.
- [57] Smith AM, Chapman CE, Deslandes M, Langlais JS, Thibodeau MP. Role of friction and tangential force variation in the subjective scaling of tactile roughness. Exp Brain Res. 2002;144(2):211–23.

- [58] Lederman SJ, Taylor MM. Fingertip force, surface geometry, and the perception of roughness by active touch. Percept Psychophys. 1972;12(5):401–8.
- [59] Lederman SJ, Loomis JM, Williams DA. The role of vibration in the tactual perception of roughness. Percept Psychophys. 1982;32(2):109–16.
- [60] Rao AR, Lohset GL. Identifying high level features of texture perception.pdf. Graph Model image Process. 1993;55(3):218–33.
- [61] Rao AR, Lohset GL. Towards a Texture Naming System : Identifying Relevant Dimensions of Texture. 1996;36(11):1649–69.
- [62] Crawford B. Visual adaptation in relation to brief conditioning stimuli. Proc R Soc B. 1947;134(875).
- [63] Tal N, Amedi A. Multisensory visual-tactile object related network in humans : insights gained using a novel crossmodal adaptation approach. Exp Brain Res. 2009;198:165–82.
- [64] Jackson GR, Owsley C, Mcgwin G. Aging and dark adaptation. Vision Res. 1999;39:3975–82.
- [65] Hurley JB. Shedding Light on Adaptation. J Gen Physiol. 2002;119(2):125–8.
- [66] Deering MF. The Limits of Human Vision.
- [67] Schallmo M-P, Sponheim SR, Olman CA. Reduced Contextual Effects on Visual Contrast Perception in Schizophrenia and Bipolar Affective Disorder. Psychol Med. 2015;45(16):3527–37.
- [68] Egmond R Van, Ridder H De, Pappas TN, Silva PM. Roughness vs . Contrast in Natural Textures. Hum Vis Electron Imaging. 2014;9014:1–9.
- [69] Ferradans S, Bertalm M, Provenzi E, Caselles V. An analysis of visual adaptation and contrast perception for Tone Mapping. :1–12.
- [70] Kellman PJ, Shipley TF. A Theory of Visual Interpolation in Object Perception. Cogn Psychol. 1991;23:141–221.
- [71] Sun H, Ban H, Di M, Welchman AE. fMRI evidence for areas that process surface gloss in the human visual cortex. Vision Res [Internet]. Elsevier Ltd; 2014;1–9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2014.11.012
- [72] Miyaoka T, Mano T, Ohka M. Mechanisms of fine surface texture discrimination in human tactile sensation. J Acoust Soc Am. 1999;105(4):2485–92.
- [73] Hsiao SS, Johnson KO, Twombly IA. Roughness coding in the somatosensory system. Acta Psychol (Amst). 1993;84(1):53–67.
- [74] Schellingerhout R, Smitsman a W, Van Galen GP. Texture information in tactual space perception. Acta Psychol (Amst) [Internet]. 1998;99(1):93–114. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9664840

- [75] Jenmalm P, Schmitz C, Forssberg H, Ehrsson HH. Lighter or heavier than predicted: neural correlates of corrective mechanisms during erroneously programmed lifts. J Neurosci [Internet]. 2006;26(35):9015–21. Available from: http://www.jneurosci.org/cgi/doi/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5045-05.2006%5Cnhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16943559
- [76] Yoshioka T, Gibb B, Dorsch a K, Hsiao SS, Johnson KO. Neural coding mechanisms underlying perceived roughness of finely textured surfaces. J Neurosci. 2001;21(17):6905–16.
- [77] Picard D, Albaret J, Mazella A. Haptic identification of raised-line drawings by children, adolescents and young adults : an age-related skill. Haptics-e. 2013;5(2):24–8.
- [78] Ott BR, Ellias SA, Lannon MC. Quantitative assessment of movement in alzheimer's disease. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol. 1995;8:71–5.
- [79] Millar S. Tactile short-term memory by blind and sighted children. Br J Psychol. 1974;65:253–263.
- [80] Kluger A, Gianutsos JG, Golomb J, et al. Patterns of motor impairment in normal aging, mild cognitive decline, and early alzheimer's disease. Journals Gerontol Ser B Psychol Sci Soc Sci [Internet]. 1997;52B(1):P28–39. Available from: http://psychsocgerontology.oxfordjournals.org.proxy.its.virginia.edu/content/52B /1/P28.short
- [81] Dinse HR, Kleibel N, Kalisch T, et al. Tactile coactivation resets age-related decline of human tactile discrimination. Ann Neurol. 2006;60(1):88–94.
- [82] Behrmann M, Ewell C. Expertise in tactile pattern recognition. Psychol Sci. 2003;14(5):480–6.
- [83] Hodzic A, Veit R, Karim A a, Erb M, Godde B. Improvement and decline in tactile discrimination behavior after cortical plasticity induced by passive tactile coactivation. J Neurosci. 2004;24(2):442–6.
- [84] Norman JF, Kappers AML, Cheeseman JR, et al. Aging and curvature discrimination from static and dynamic touch. PLoS One. 2013;8(7):1–6.
- [85] Johnson KO, Phillips JR. Tactile spatial resolution. I. two-point discrimination, gap detection, grating resolution, and letter recognition. J Neurophysiol. 1981;46(6):1177–92.
- [86] Craig JC, Johnson KO. The two-point threshold: not a measure of tactile spatial resolution. Curr Dir Psychol Sci. 2000;9(1):29–32.
- [87] Ballesteros S, Reales JM. Intact haptic priming in normal aging and alzheimer's disease: evidence for dissociable memory systems. Neuropsychologia. 2004;42(8):1063–70.

- [88] Wijntjes MW a, Kappers AML. Angle discrimination in raised-line drawings. Perception. 2007;36(6):865–79.
- [89] Jones MB, Vierck CJ. Length discrimination on the skin. Am J Psychol. 1973;86:49–60.
- [90] Wheat HE, Goodwin AW. Tactile discrimination of edge shape: limits on spatial resolution imposed by parameters of the peripheral neural population. J Neurosci. 2001;21(19):7751–63.
- [91] Streri A, Spelke ES. Haptic perception of objects in infancy. Cogn Psychol. 1988;20(1):1–23.
- [92] Klatzky RL, Lederman SJ, Metzger VA. Identifying objects by touch: an "expert system". Perception & psychophysics. 1985. p. 299–302.
- [93] Yang J, Syafiq MU, Yu Y, et al. Development and Evaluation of a Tactile Cognitive Function Test Device for Alzheimer 's Disease Early Detection. Neurosci Biomed Eng. 2015;(3):1–8.
- [94] Hashimoto M, Rockenstein E, Crews L, Masliah E. Role of protein aggregation in mitochondrial dysfunction and neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases. Neuromolecular Med. 2003;4(1–2):21–36.
- [95] Solomon PR, Murphy C a. Should we screen for Alzheimer's disease? A review of the evidence for and against screening Alzheimer's disease in primary care practice. Geriatrics. 2005;60(11).
- [96] Barghorn S, Nimmrich V, Striebinger A, et al. Globular amyloid β-peptide1-42 oligomer - A homogenous and stable neuropathological protein in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem. 2005;95(3):834–47.
- [97] Zhong Z, Ewers M, Teipel S, et al. Levels of beta-secretase (BACE1) in cerebrospinal fluid as a predictor of risk in mild cognitive impairment. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2007;64(6):718–26.
- [98] Yang L-B, Lindholm K, Yan R, et al. Elevated beta-secretase expression and enzymatic activity detected in sporadic Alzheimer disease. Nat Med. 2003;9(1):3–4.
- [99] Weissman DH, Banich MT. The cerebral hemispheres cooperate to perform complex but not simple tasks. Neuropsychology. 2000;14(1):41–59.
- [100] Vega-Bermudez F, Johnson KO. Spatial acuity after digit amputation. Brain. 2002;125(Pt 6):1256–64.
- [101] Bodegård A, Geyer S, Grefkes C, Zilles K, Roland PE. Hierarchical processing of tactile shape in the human brain. Neuron. 2001;31(2):317–28.

- [102] Huang S, Li J, Sun L, et al. Learning brain connectivity of Alzheimer's disease by sparse inverse covariance estimation. Neuroimage. Elsevier Inc.; 2010;50(3):935–49.
- [103] Johnson SC, Schmitz TW, Moritz CH, et al. Activation of brain regions vulnerable to Alzheimer's disease: the effect of mild cognitive impairment. Neurobiol Aging [Internet]. 2006 [cited 2012 Nov 24];27(11):1604–12. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2627778&tool=pmce ntrez&rendertype=abstract
- [104] Delbeuck X, Linden M Van Der, Collette F. Alzheimer 's Disease as a Disconnection Syndrome ? Neuropsychol Rev. 2003;13(2).

Acknowledgements

"In the name of Allah, the Most Gracious, the Most Merciful"

Praise to Allah S.W.T the Lord of the universe, for His wisdom, strength and blessing to complete this dissertation entitled "Behavioral and fMRI Studies on Visuotactile Roughness Perception". Peace and blessings of Allah be upon His messenger, Muhammad P.B.U.H.

First and foremost, I would like to take this opportunity to thank my supervisors, Prof. Jinglong Wu, Associate Prof Satoshi Takahashi, and Assistant Prof Jiajia Yang, who continuously support, give encouragement and guidance in completing this study. My greatest gratitude is especially for them, as they never give up in guiding me on completing this study. There were a lot of great things I have learned from them.

Besides my advisor, I would like to thank the rest of my thesis committee: Prof. Shinichiro Yanase and Prof. Eiji Tomita for their insightful comments and encouragement, but also for the hard question which incented me to widen my research from various perspectives.

I would also like to express my special thanks to technical assistant Mr Yoshihiko Tamura, Ms Kumiko Takamoto, and all current and past members of Biomedical Engineering Laboratory of Okayama University.

Finally, I also would like to express my utmost gratefulness and appreciation to my beloved parents, family and my beautiful wife for their constant patience, motivation and morale support.

SEPTEMBER 2017

MOHD USAIRY SYAFIQ BIN SAMAIN